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Acknowledgement
of Traditional Owners
VicForests respectfully
acknowledges Aboriginal people as
the First Peoples and Traditional
Owners and custodians of the land
and water on which we rely.
We recognise and respect their
unique culture and contribution to
our communities. We also pay our
respects to ancestors and Elders,
past, present and future.
VicForests has begun to develop
a Reflect Reconciliation Action
Plan to better understand its
responsibilities as an organisation
operating on traditional land.
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12 October, 2020

The Hon Jaclyn Symes MLC
Minister for Agriculture
Level 36, 121 Exhibition Street
Melbourne VIC 3000

Dear Minister
VicForests’ Annual Report
In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, I am pleased to present
VicForests’ Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2020.

Yours sincerely,

Chris Lovell
VicForests Chair
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Chair Report
In November 2019, the Victorian government
released its Victorian Forestry Plan which sets out a
gradual transition from native forest harvesting to
plantation-based timber supply by 2030. As part of
this, VicForests is developing options for new lines
of business allied to our primary forestry function.
As a consequence, VicForests has this year
undertaken two complex functions simultaneously.
We have continued our usual business operations
under difficult circumstances including devastating
bushfires, increased litigation and a once in a
century global pandemic. We have also begun to
comprehensively transform our business as we
transition from native forest harvesting.
Sustainability is at the heart of everything we
do at VicForests. Our staff and contractors are
experts at their craft and are constantly working
on improving our forestry practices. VicForests
respects and understands there is a lot of public
interest in our work, however it is important that
this acknowledges the complexities of responsible
timber harvesting. VicForests welcomes the
opportunity to engage constructively with all
stakeholders so that we can, where possible,
establish common ground that benefits our industry
and the communities in which it operates while,
at the same time, securing and enhancing the
sustainability of precious natural resources.
VicForests’ vision for the future focusses on
fostering, assessing, and implementing innovative
ideas for and within our business. We have
established the Business Development and
Innovation Committee of the Board to promote and
support our staff to be innovators for the forestry
industry of the future.
Through our transformation program, VicForests
has explored a number of potential opportunities
for business and industry transition that provide for
socio-economic activity in regional areas. The post
balance date announcement of a VicForests nursery
at Nowa Nowa is the culmination of planning
undertaken in the 2019-20 year.
At the heart of this work is our respect for
Registered Aboriginal Parties (RAP) as the primary
guardians, keepers, and knowledge holders of the
lands on which we operate. In 2019-20, VicForests
commenced an ongoing project to improve its
RAP engagement through the development of
an Aboriginal engagement plan. VicForests will

continue to build on this work with the knowledge
that RAPs are the primary source of advice and
knowledge on matters relating to Aboriginal places
or Aboriginal objects across many of the regions we
operate in.
On behalf of the Board, I thank Michael Humphris
for his service as a Board member over the
past seven years and as the Chairperson of the
VicForests Board since June 2016. From 2012 to
2019, Michael strengthened our commitment to
safety and compliance and without his leadership
as Chair, VicForests would not be in the strong
position it is in today. I acknowledge and thank
Nathan Trushell for his enthusiasm, initiative, and
hard work as immediate past Chief Executive
Officer of VicForests.
The Board thanks our Chief Executive Officer
Monique Dawson and her Executive Leadership
team for their hard work and commitment. We also
acknowledge and appreciate the hard work and
commitment of all VicForests staff and contractors
this year. They have gone above and beyond the
call of duty and we are proud of their efforts. The
support they continue to provide to bushfire and
coronavirus impacted communities, particularly in
regional Victoria, is invaluable.
I take this opportunity to recognise the immense
efforts of my colleagues on the VicForests Board
throughout what has been a challenging year. Our
organisation is stronger for your leadership.
Finally, I would like to acknowledge the support
and guidance of our responsible portfolio, The Hon
Jaclyn Symes and her staff, for which VicForests is
grateful.

Chris Lovell
Chairperson
VicForests
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CEO Report
On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present
VicForests’ Annual Report 2019-20.
The year posed many challenges for VicForests
including the summer bushfires, coronavirus
(COVID-19) and a number of legal proceedings that
impacted our ability to operate normally. However,
performance remained strong and the business
continued to focus on transformation and innovation.
In November 2019 the Victorian Government
announced a transition away from native forest
harvesting to solely plantation-based timber by
2030. This has required a comprehensive review
of our systems and operations led by the newly
formed transformation team. Innovation and
diversification programs for the native timber sector
were developed to assist affected businesses and
individuals in the transition. An extensive stakeholder
and contract management effort likewise sought to
maintain our strong partnerships with community
and business.
VicForests’ innovation program has been a
cornerstone of our transformation effort that
focusses on fostering and implementing innovative
ideas throughout the business. The initiatives
include: 3D coupe visualisation that can produce
photorealistic modelling of forests using LiDAR
and other elevation sources to inform our strategic
retention of trees; Machine-learning algorithms
to identify potential habitat trees using LiDAR
data and satellite imagery supplemented with
field observation data; and Seed management
agreement developed in response to the summer
bushfires which highlighted the vulnerability of
native forests. Between April and July 2020, 11,600ha
of ash forest was seeded using around 4,500 kg
of seed from VicForests’ seedbank; Technology
integration with contractors through the provision
of tablet computers that provide real-time access
to coupe boundaries and special protection zones
that will assist with environmental compliance in our
operations.
The impairment charge against the carrying value
of biological assets of $8.4 million, combined with
reduced harvest activities contributed to our loss
after tax of $7.5 million. At year end there was a
working capital balance of $15.7 million and shortterm borrowings of $0.9 million.
Due to resource impacts to our business from
coronavirus (COVID-19) restrictions, the summer
bushfires and increased litigation, VicForests took
the decision to postpone achieving the Forest
Stewardship Council Controlled Wood standard
by the end of 2020. We continued to demonstrate

our ongoing compliance to responsible forests
management through our Sustainable Forest
Management certification from Responsible Wood
(Australian Forestry Standard - AS 4708) which we
have held since 2007.
Our strong commitment to safety continued
throughout 2019-20 with some of the lowest
instances of injury in VicForests’ history. In 2019-20
there were no truck rollovers, one instance of lost
time injury and two instances of lost time injury
for contractors. When compared to 2006, when we
were experiencing more than a rollover per month
amongst the haulage fleet, this is a monumental
achievement. However, even one injury is too many
and VicForests remains committed to strengthening
its culture of health and safety for staff and
contractors.
In 2019-20, VicForests set out to strengthen its
relationship and consultation with Registered
Aboriginal Parties and traditional owners. As a
business that operates on traditional land, we
understand the importance of reconciliation
and have started the development of a Reflect
Reconciliation Action Plan – the first step towards
reconciliation.
Despite travel restrictions and social distancing
requirements due to coronavirus (COVID-19),
stakeholder engagement continued with a blend of
face-to-face community engagement and virtual
meetings. The changed working environment brought
about by the pandemic has acted as a catalyst to
improve our ICT capabilities and we will continue
to develop and strengthen the new ways we can
connect with the community.
I extend my thanks to our staff, contractors and
management team for their significant efforts
over the past year. Without their professionalism,
resilience and dedication over a challenging year
we would not have been able to achieve such a solid
performance.
I also take this opportunity to acknowledge the
effective and insightful contribution of our Board
members and the previous Chair and CEO of
VicForests.

Monique Dawson
CEO
VicForests
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About VicForests

Strategic direction
VicForests is proud to be recognised as a credible,
successful and dynamic native forestry business
that provides a sustainable contribution to Victoria.
We achieve this by living our values every day.
VicForests is a State-owned business responsible
for the sustainable harvest, regrowing and
commercial sale of timber from public forests
on behalf of the Victorian Government. We
undertake all of our operations in a safe,
efficient and sustainable manner, keeping our
staff, the community and the environment in
mind in all we do. We are an active member
of the communities in which we operate, and
we are committed to giving stakeholders the
opportunity to have input into our forestry
practices. VicForests respects that Traditional
Owners are the original custodians of the land
and resources in Victoria and have a special and
enduring connection to Country.
The responsible Treasurer during the 2019-20
reporting period was the Hon Tim Pallas MP.
The responsible Minister during the 2019-20
reporting period was the Hon Jaclyn Symes MLC.

Vision
We are leading forest managers operating to the
highest standards and our work provides longterm value for Victorian communities.

VicForests aims to:
•

maintain our strong commercial forestry
business so that we can continue to make
a significant contribution to the Victorian
economy and its communities;

•

respect the forests in which we operate and
build strong environmental systems that sustain
our unique Victorian biodiversity; and

•

grow our business through the efficient and
effective delivery of Government policy
objectives.

Values
Sustainable
We respect and care for our environment
and the communities in which we operate

Customer focused
We are responsible in our commercial
dealings

Respect
Purpose

We treat others in a manner that we would
like to be treated

To sustainably manage the State’s renewable
timber resources for the long-term
environmental, social and economic benefit of
all Victorians.

Safe
We aim for Zero Harm in all that we do

Professional
We operate in an ethical, efficient and
accountable manner
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Corporate Governance
Board of directors
Chris Lovell – Chair (BA, LLM, FAICD)
Chris Lovell joined the VicForests Board on 1 June
2018. Mr Lovell is an experienced commercial
lawyer who has extensive board experience in
both the public and private sectors.
Mr Lovell is Chair of Holding Redlich, a Director
of Clemenger Group, City West Water, and the
Barnett Foundation. He is also Independent Chair
of four stakeholder and community reference
groups established for the Metro Tunnel project.
Therese Ryan – Deputy Chair (LLB, GAICD)
Therese Ryan joined the VicForests Board
in February 2013. With more than 35 years’
experience as a senior business executive and
commercial lawyer, Ms Ryan has worked in widely
diversified businesses in Australia and overseas.

Angeleen Jenkins – Non-Executive Director (BA,
FAICD)
Angeleen Jenkins joined the VicForests’ Board
on 1 January 2016. Ms Jenkins is an experienced
professional company director in various
commercial industries, including serving as a
director in the Australasian forestry and wood
products sectors over the last six years.
Ms Jenkins was formerly a long-term executive
for 25 years in a large multi-national construction
group, where she also served as a Group director
for eight years. Ms Jenkins is a Director of Tiaki
Plantations Company, Taumata Plantations Limited
and Mayflower Enterprises Pty Ltd and Deputy
Chair of Central Highlands Water.
Kim McGrath – Non-Executive Director (LLB, BA,
GAICD)

Ms Ryan is Chair of Gippsland Water and a nonexecutive Director of Bapcor Limited, Sustainable
Timber Tasmania, WA Local Superannuation and
Independent Member, Audit, Finance and Risk
Committee, City of Melbourne.

Kim McGrath joined the VicForests Board on 1
June 2018. A former water policy advisor to the
Premier of Victoria, Ms McGrath has over 20 years’
experience in researching, strategic advice and
policy development.

Dr David Cochrane – Non-Executive Director
(DBA, MBA, BEc, ACCA)

Ms McGrath is Deputy Chair at South East Water
and principal consultant at BKE Consulting.

David Cochrane joined the VicForests’ Board on
1 January 2016. Dr Cochrane has over 35 years’
experience as an economist and accountant,
providing economic, commercial and strategic
advice to the public and private sectors.
Dr Cochrane is Deputy Chair of Guide Dogs
Victoria, the founding Director of Cloudstreet
Economics Pty Ltd, a Director of Phillip Island
Nature Parks and a member of the Department of
Transport’s Audit, Risk and Integrity Committee.

Greg Sword AM – Non-Executive Director
(GAICD)
Greg Sword joined the VicForests Board on 1 June
2018. Mr Sword has served as the CEO of Industry
Fund LUCRF Super, Chairman of the St Vincent’s
Public Hospital Foundation and recently served as
the acting CEO of the Lake Tyres Aboriginal Trust.
Mr Sword is currently a Trustee of the National
Jockeys Trust and Trustee of the Caulfield
Racecourse Reserve.
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Board committees

Executive remuneration

A revised Board Committee structure was
implemented for 2019-20. The revised structure
comprises the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee,
the Environment and Stakeholders Committee, the
Executive Remuneration Committee, the People,
Safety and Culture Committee and a newly formed
Business Development and Innovation Committee.

The role of the Executive Remuneration
Committee is to review and approve executive
remuneration in accordance with the Victorian
Public Sector Commission Executive Remuneration
policy.

Each committee operates under a charter
approved by the Board and meets periodically.

The role of the People, Safety and Culture
Committee is to assist the Board to fulfil its
oversight responsibilities in relation to the health,
wellbeing and safety of VicForests’ staff and
contractors, and the organisation’s culture.

Audit, finance and risk
The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee oversees
and advises the Board on matters of accountability
relating to financial accounting practices, risk
management, internal control systems, external
financial reporting and the internal and external
audit function. The Committee maintains effective
communication with internal and external auditors
and considers recommendations made by them.
In fulfilling its role, the Committee must ensure
that VicForests meets the requirements of the
Standing Directions 2018 under the Financial
Management Act 1994.
Business development and innovation
The business development and innovation
committee assists the Board in relation to the
ongoing development and delivery of innovative
programs and initiatives designed to expand
VicForests’ activities beyond native timber
harvesting.
Environment and stakeholders
The Environment and Stakeholders Committee
is responsible for providing advice and
recommendations to the Board on environmental
matters and stakeholder engagement.
The work of the Committee is directed towards
environmental and stakeholder matters arising
out of the activities of VicForests and the impact
of those activities on customers, business partners
and the communities and environments in which
VicForests operates.

People, safety and culture

Board and committee chairs
Chair
Board

Chris Lovell – Chair
Therese Ryan – Deputy
Chair

Audit, finance and risk
committee

David Cochrane

Business development
and innovation
committee

Kim McGrath

Environment and
stakeholders
committee

Greg Sword

Executive remuneration
committee

Chris Lovell

People, safety and
culture committee

Angeleen Jenkins
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Board and committee meetings attendance
Board

Environment and Stakeholders Committee
Eligible

Attended

Eligible

Attended

Chris Lovell

12

12

Greg Sword

4

4

David Cochrane

12

12

David Cochrane

2

2

Angeleen Jenkins

12

12

Chris Lovell

4

4

Kim McGrath

12

12

Kim McGrath

4

3

Therese Ryan

12

11

Angeleen Jenkins

(iv)

1

Greg Sword

12

12

Therese Ryan

(iv)

1

Audit Finance and Risk Committee

People Safety and Culture Committee

Eligible

Attended

Eligible

Attended

David Cochrane

6

6

Angeleen Jenkins

4

4

Angeleen Jenkins

6

6

Therese Ryan

4

4

Chris Lovell

6

6

Greg Sword

4

4

Kim McGrath

(iii)

3

Therese Ryan

(i)&(ii)

5

(ii)

1

Greg Sword

Executive Remuneration Committee

Chris Lovell
Business development and innovation
committee

David Cochrane

Eligible

Attended

Kim McGrath

1

1

David Cochrane

1

1

Therese Ryan

1

1

(iv)

1

Chris Lovell

Michael Humphris
Therese Ryan

Eligible

Attended

1(v)

1

2

2

1(v)

1

2

2

(i)

Therese Ryan attended three AFRC meetings
in her capacity as Acting Chair

(ii)

These directors are not on the committee
but chose to attend a meeting/s during
2019-20 as an observer.

(iii)

Kim McGrath was an AFRC member during
2019 calendar year.

(iv)

These directors are not on the committee
but chose to attend one meeting each
during 2019-20 as observers

(v)

Michael Humphris was Chair of ERC in August
2019. Chris Lovell is current Chair of ERC
and attended an Interim Meeting of ERC in
February 2020.
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Executive team
Monique Dawson
Chief Executive Officer
LLB, GDipLegPrac

Natalie Naylor
General Counsel
LLB, BCom, GDipCompLaw

Darryn Kamp
Chief Financial Officer
BComm

Deon Kriek
General Manager, Operations
BTech (Quality), DipForestry

Anne Geary
General Manager, Transformation
BForSc

Jason Hellyer
General Manager, People, Safety and
Culture
DipWHS, GIA(Affiliated)

Alex Messina
General Manager, Corporate Affairs
MArts (Comm), BA (Hons), MPRIA

Bruce McTavish
Acting General Manager, Resources and
Business Development
BAppSc

Organisational structure
VicForests board

Audit, Finance
and Risk
Committee

Chief Financial
Officer
Darryn Kamp

Environment and
Stakeholders
Committee

General
Manager,
Transformation
Anne Geary

Chief Executive
Officer
Monique Dawson

General
Manager,
Corporate
Affairs
Alex Messina

People, Safety
and Culture
Committee

General Counsel General Manager,
Natalie Naylor
Operations
Deon Kriek

Business
Development
and Innovation
Committee

General
Manager, Resources
and Business
Development
Bruce McTavish
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A Year In Review
VicForests supports communities
impacted by bushfires
The 2019-20 bushfires burnt approximately 1.6
million hectares of public native forests in eastern
Victoria. VicForests’ staff and contractors were
actively involved in the fire suppression effort
throughout the immediate response and played a
significant role in the rehabilitation effort including
reopening the roads.
Once the fires’ spread was under control,
VicForests undertook fire severity mapping to
understand the impact of the fires on timber
resources and ensure that it could comply with
requirements for any post bushfire timber recovery
harvesting and salvage.
VicForests acknowledges that these fires have
had a significant impact on some species of
flora and fauna, and we have reviewed our
planning of timber harvesting accordingly. We
have undertaken a complete review of our high

conservation value assessment to consider the
impacts of these fires, which has included a
robust public consultation. In addition, VicForests
has undertaken a risk assessment to consider
additional impacts that may be caused by timber
harvesting operations on those affected species.
From this risk assessment VicForests has developed
further adaptive measures to give greater
protection to those species that may be at further
risk from timber harvesting. This has included a
review of the measures for managing our timber
recovery harvesting in the most severely burnt
areas.
Supply of timber to industry was substantially
disrupted during the extended period of the
bushfires. Timber recovered from hazardous
tree removal in bushfire areas, as well as
commencement of the harvest of burnt timber
from the forest enabled recommencement of
supply to mills.

Aerial reseeding: VicForests helping bush recovery after fires
VicForests partnered with DELWP on a re-seeding project to bring life back to huge
areas of forest devastated by the bushfires. The project helped recover thousands of
hectares of burnt Mountain and Alpine Ash forest and enabled seed to be collected
from healthy bushland for re-seeding. Between May and July more than 4.5 tonnes
of eucalypt seed was spread by aircraft across nearly 11,500 hectares of fire ravaged
country, an area the equivalent of about 5650 MCGs. Given the constraints of seed
availability, the sowing season and weather, a fixed wing aircraft was deployed (3
times faster than helicopter) to complete the sowing in full, to specifications and on
time. The fixed wing aircraft required a different seeder to be fitted and calibrated for
the significant broadacre sowing task, one of the largest ever undertaken in the state.
The re-seeding focused on areas of nationally distinctive forests in Gippsland and
north east Victoria that also suffered the impacts of fire in 2003, 2007 and 2014, and
were severely burned again in 2019/20. The ability to respond at this scale was made
possible by VicForests having built a strategic seed bank to enable re-afforestation
after major bushfire events.
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Looking to the future

2.

Transformation

VicForests has created a Habitat Tree
Model to assist prioritisation of the
assessment of habitat in the field by
the biodiversity team. The model was
developed using available high-resolution
remote sensing data, including Sentinel,
digital elevation models, and LiDAR.
The machine-learning algorithm was
built on 80% of field data to identify key
relationships between field-collected
habitat tree abundance and remotesensed predictors, such as structural,
topographic, and environmental variables.
The model was validated and calibrated
using the remaining 20% of field data. The
LiDAR-derived habitat tree occurrence
model has over 80% model accuracy. The
model is now being used in the field and
has the added important safety benefit
of minimising staff time in the forest
environment.

In November 2019, the Victorian Government
announced the Victorian Forestry Plan (VFP)
signalling a gradual transition away from native
forest harvesting to a plantation-based timber
supply, including retaining current harvest levels
to 2024, then reducing over time through to
cessation by 2030. The Government has supported
VicForests to commence implementation of the
VFP to assist the transition of affected businesses
and individuals. This includes exploring a number
of potential industry transition opportunities
for VicForests and affected businesses that
would provide for socio-economic activity in
regional areas. This work will be consolidated and
considered by Government in 2020-21.
Innovation
VicForests’ innovation program has a focus on
fostering and implementing innovative ideas within
the business and is now embedded within the
business’ Strategic Directions. The focus for 201920 has been to support and develop our staff to be
innovators for the forestry industry of the future.
The following are some of the highlights from this
year’s innovation program.
1.

3D Coupe visualisation
The resources team investigated and
mastered photorealistic modelling to
grow forests and view them from different
vantage points in the landscape using
Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR)
terrain as a base. This software allows
the viewer to see how harvesting can
affect the landscape and importantly
how the strategic retention of trees or
groups of trees can shield the harvested
coupe from the viewer. This modelling has
proved an invaluable tool in discussions
with stakeholders and enabled bespoke
harvesting patterns to minimise the visual
impact of harvesting on the landscape. It
has also been successfully used to show
how the view will change over time and
how forests grow and regrow over time.

Habitat Distribution Model using remote
sensing data

3.

Technology moves to contractors and
harvesting equipment
During the year, tablet computers
have been successfully deployed to
all contractor harvesting equipment,
following earlier operational trials. This
technology enables operators to access
real-time information including not
only coupe boundaries but also buffers,
special protection zones or other layers to
assist in environmental compliance. This
project is now being extended to include
other machinery on the coupe such as
bulldozers and to capture specific coupe
information and data. The tablets have
allowed VicForests to reduce the amount
of coupe marking field work, delivering
safety benefits from slips, trips and falls, as
well as increasing staff efficiency.
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Improving the Eucalypt supply chain with the Nowa Nowa Nursery
The town of Nowa Nowa in East Gippsland has been selected as the preferred location
for the creation of a new VicForests nursery. The establishment of the $10 million
nursery is integral to our transition to plantation harvesting and will increase the
eucalypt seedling supply chain. The site under consideration is a former native timber
sawmill that will be repurposed to provide for timber for future generations and up to
30 ongoing full-time jobs. The Nowa Nowa Nursery will also play an important function
in bushfire recoveries, providing an estimated 5 million seedlings annually that can be
used for the reafforestation of bushfire affected forests.

Supply risk

Resource outlook
In November 2019 the Victorian Government
released the Victorian Forestry Plan. Under the
plan it was announced that VicForests would meet
existing contractual obligations and negotiate
new sawlog supply contracts for all mills up to
mid-2024 under the maximum allowed supply
levels. From then sawlog volumes would step down
until 2030, after which commercial native timber
harvesting in State forests would cease.
The harvest volumes to be supplied under the
Victorian Forestry Plan align with the VicForests
Resource Outlook (2016-17) in the short term.
They are also consistent with the requirements
of the individual Regional Forest Agreements for
Central Highlands, East Gippsland, Gippsland and
North East. These Regional Forest Agreements
require that a range of factors, including the
area available for harvesting, the forecast forest
structure and growth rates and any policy or
regulatory obligations, are considered in setting
the harvest levels.

A number of factors potentially impact on resource
availability, increasing the risk of shortfall in supply
by VicForests. Bushfires represent a significant
risk to Victorian forested environments and can
negatively impact harvest availability. The 201920 bushfires saw significant landscape fires in
eastern Victoria and following the immediate fire
suppression efforts, VicForests participated in
resource assessments to determine the impacts on
the available State forest timber resources in order
to ensure the Victorian Forestry Plan harvest levels
can be supplied.
The preservation of biodiversity values is an
important aspect of VicForests’ mission. To ensure
we continue to protect these biodiversity values,
VicForests monitors the reservation of otherwise
available forest and incorporates them into the
determination of harvest levels under the Regional
Forest Agreements. This can also have an impact
on resource availability.
During 2019-20, resource availability was also
impacted by ongoing and new court cases. The
new cases in particular had an immediate impact
on VicForests ability to harvest forest necessary
to meet its contractual obligations and further
impacted the resource constraints arising from
the bushfires. A review of the Code of Practice
for Timber Production 2014 has been instigated
by the State to provide clarity around VicForests
operating environment and to enable delivery of
the Victorian Forestry Plan.
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Sales 2019-20

Community forestry operations

In 2019-20 demand remained strong on the back
of 2018-19. VicForests sold 363,851 m3 of sawlog,
544,279 m3 of pulplog and 48,559 m3 of other
products generating over $84.79 million in sales
across all of its operations. The “Other” products
category includes fencing timbers, poles and
woodchop logs but is predominantly firewood of
which VicForests sold 24,433m3.

Our Community Forestry operations support
communities by providing local businesses access
to local forest resources. These businesses produce
a broad range of timber products including sawlog,
posts, firewood and other specialty products such
as guitars and crafted furniture. Most operations
are conducted in western Victoria, with products
generated through small scale, low intensity
timber harvesting operations.

Following a similar trend in 2018-19, customer
demand continued to exceed VicForests’
ability to supply, due to ongoing reservations
from threatened species detections and legal
injunctions preventing the harvesting of certain
coupes. In addition, the bushfires in East Gippsland
and the Northeast had a significant impact on
VicForests ability to supply and meet its customer
demand. As a result, VicForests achieved 85% of its
2019-20 budgeted sales.
Throughout 2019-20, VicForests customers
continued to provide valued employment and
economic activity in regional Victoria and
metropolitan Melbourne, offering unique and
sustainable Victorian hardwood for a range of
purposes.
The Victorian Forestry Plan sets sales volumes out
to 2030. With a majority of customer agreements
expiring at 30 June 2020, VicForests negotiated
new sawlog sales agreements with 19 existing
customers based on the volumes contemplated in
the Victorian Forestry Plan through until 2024.

November 2019 marked five years of Community
Forestry operations being managed by
VicForests. Community Forestry continues to
focus on production of specialty timbers, safety
improvements, environmental performance
and increasing efficiencies while maintaining a
community focus.
The revenue generated from VicForests’
Community Forestry operations in 2019-20 was
over $0.77 million.
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Stakeholders
Stakeholder relations continue to be a vital aspect
of VicForests’ operation that facilitate greater input
and understanding from community members.
While our engagements can often generate strong
views among communities and groups, they also
allow VicForests to explain the delicate balance of
social, ecological and economic factors that affect
harvesting and explain how biodiversity and forest
values are managed to our stakeholders.
Stakeholder relations have been extensive over the
past 12 months. We have held:
•

In excess of 40 face-to-face briefings with key
stakeholders, including:
•

Major Open Houses to discuss the Timber
Release Plan

•

Community meetings to outline local
coupes of interest

•

Field trips with government and local
stakeholders

•

Regular electronic direct mail (eDM)
notifications to our database of more than
1500 stakeholders; and

•

A webinar to discuss new harvesting and
regeneration reforms with stakeholders,
drawing 100 local, national and international
attendees.

In 2020, VicForests began reviewing its ICT
capabilities including the development of an
improved online engagement platform that will
facilitate timely responses to stakeholders. These
efforts have included an automated response
and ticketing system that will track enquiries sent
to VicForests through our website and provide
stakeholders with a query status. This work is
ongoing, and we expect to have an initial system
online in late 2020 or early 2021.
We continue to strive to meet the expectations
of environmental interests by consulting with
communities regarding our planned operations
and adhere to strict regulatory and ecological
controls that govern our harvesting operations.
Engaging with our stakeholder groups
Our stakeholder engagement work focuses on
local communities by providing opportunities for
important input into our operations and advising
regional residents and communities of our planned
operations.
We aim to mitigate the impacts of our operations
by balancing the social, economic and
environmental factors of our activities. At the

core of these efforts is our open consultation
with nearby neighbours in relation to coupes of
interest and on annual Timber Release Plans. This
important consultative process is continually
improved year on year and in 2019-20 has led to
scheduled and ongoing meetings with numerous
key local groups as well as easy-to-access coupe
plans and maps of active coupes being made
available on our website.
Engagements have driven the extensive reforms
to our harvesting methods and practices since
mid-2019 and we continue to conduct intensive
stakeholder consultations as a part of these
reforms. In each round, the original and updated
document drafts were distributed for comment
to more than 150 stakeholders for comment,
including representatives from government,
environmental groups, academia, industry and the
community. These new approaches will be under
ongoing review and VicForests will continue to
receive and consider input.
We also began a consultative process and
review of our High Conservation Values (HCV)
Assessment. This review considered forest values
that may be impacted by VicForests’ operations
against multiple HCV Categories. The review
sought to identify all relevant and significant
forest values at a landscape scale and describe
how these are managed and protected. Public
consultation assists VicForests in this process by
identifying what should be included as HCV and
helps clarify the importance of these values to the
community. The HCV assessment will be regularly
reviewed in accordance with VicForests’ Forest
Management Plan.
Relationships with local governments continued
to be important with routine consultation, briefs
and presentations to councils as well as field
tours to manage on-going inquiries and requests
for information. In 2019-20, VicForests hosted a
range of briefings across regional Victoria with
councillors and senior council representatives from
local government areas.
VicForests regularly briefs local Members of
Parliament and keeps the Minister for Agriculture
and the Treasurer appropriately informed of
our operations. We continue to work with the
Department of Treasury and Finance, and the
Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions
(DJPR), who oversee our legislative framework.
We also meet frequently with regional and policy
staff of the Department of Environment, Land,
Water and Planning (DELWP) and the Office of
the Conservation Regulator (OCR), and strive
for continuous improvement in meeting our
obligations.
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VicForests continues to engage in discussions
with non-government organisations regarding
protected or endangered species and timber
harvesting. There can be strong and conflicting
views between VicForests and these groups, but we
maintain productive engagements that often yield
positive outcomes from our meetings.
We also actively engage with industry bodies
including Victorian Association of Forest Industries,
Wood Products Victoria, Australian Forest Products
Association, Forest and Wood Products Australia,
Australian Forest Contractors Association, and the
Forest Industry Council.

Traditional owner consultation
The Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006 recognises
Registered Aboriginal Parties (RAP) as the primary
guardians, keepers and knowledge holders of
Aboriginal Cultural Heritage. RAPs are the primary
source of advice and knowledge on matters
relating to Aboriginal places or Aboriginal objects
in their region.
In 2019-20, VicForests commenced an ongoing
project to improve its RAP engagement through
the development of an Aboriginal engagement
plan. The plan is designed to facilitate better
communication and consultation with RAPs and
Traditional Owners. Despite setbacks due to
coronavirus (COVID-19), the internal framework
and working group needed to implement
VicForests’ Aboriginal engagement plan are set to
be established in November 2020.
This engagement effort supports our
organisational desire to:
•

Acknowledge Traditional Owners and work
closely in relation to local activities;

•

Recognise and respect that we conduct
operations on traditional lands;

•

Involve Traditional Owners in collaborative field
trips to local areas;

•

Promote and protect cultural heritage that can
be passed onto their generations and help build
connection to Country and tell stories;

•

Provide increased avenues for input outside of
the annual Timber Release Plan consultation;

•

Identify and explore opportunities and
partnerships; and

•

Consult with relevant groups about
incorporating training programs in local
Cultural Heritage for staff and contractors.

Reconciliation action plan
VicForests understands and supports the need for
reconciliation across Australia that is centred on
Reconciliation Australia’s five critical dimensions:
race relations, equality and equity, institutional
integrity, unity and historical acceptance.
VicForests also understands its responsibilities
as an organisation operating on traditional land
and is committed to playing an active role in the
reconciliation process.
That is why VicForests has established a project
team to work with RAPs, traditional owners
and Reconciliation Australia to develop a
Reconciliation Action Plan. Our immediate goal
in this space is to create a Reflect plan that will
scope out reconciliation activities needed from
VicForests and clearly define the steps needed
to prepare and implement successive plans.
These initial efforts are linked to our Aboriginal
engagement plan and will help VicForests
develop and improve relationships with RAPs and
traditional owners and ensure that operations
carried out on traditional land are consistent with
the aspirations of the traditional custodians.
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Forest contracting
Harvest and haulage contracting capacity
remained in a state of flux throughout 201920 with the expiry of several contracts in the
Northeast Region at the end of 30 June 2019.
Two open tenders for harvest and haulage were
undertaken in the Central and Northeast Forest
Management Areas (FMA) early in the year to
replace the expired capacity with agreements
secured by existing VicForests contractors.
On 30 June 2020, 85% of VicForests’ existing
harvest and haul capacity expired and it was
originally intended that an open tender be used
to replace this capacity. However, following the
announcement regarding the winding down of
native forest harvesting over 10 years to finish in
2030 and the need for expediency, a process of
negotiating with existing contractors was chosen
instead.
By 30 June 2020, negotiations regarding 81% of
the expiring capacity had been completed with 25
agreements to be executed early in the 2020-21
financial year.
All new harvest contracts include new
arrangements to leverage the ever-increasing use
of technology. New electronic docketing devices
were rolled out across all operations and harvest
machines now utilise a tablet device providing on
screen maps and geo-location capacity in order to
enhance environmental outcomes.
The 2019-20 bushfires in East Gippsland and the
Northeast had a devastating impact on harvest
and haul contractors in those areas. Force Majeure
notices were issued against some harvest and/
or haul contracts as a result of the fire’s impact
on VicForests’ ability to make coupes available for
harvest in selected areas.
An expression of interest process was completed
to re-establish VicForests Roading Panel to bring it
in line with the new Ministerial Direction regarding
Public Construction Procurement. 33 contractors
were accepted onto the panel.
All new contracts require Contractors to sign onto
the Victorian Government’s Supplier Code of
Conduct and 57 contractors have now committed
to the Code.

Biodiversity, forest research and
pre-harvest surveys
Research is integral to developing successful
conservation outcomes and ensuring harvesting
practices are sustainable. VicForests aims to
conduct collaborative programs, working with
research institutes and government agencies.
A research project funded by the Australian
Research Council continued into its fifth year
in 2019-20. In collaboration with the University
of Tasmania and Sustainable Timber Tasmania,
the project aims to evaluate the effectiveness
of acoustic monitors by accumulating bird
vocalisations for the application of mathematical
algorithms and frequency sonograms. This
will enable the analysis of thousands of hours
of bird-call data. VicForests engaged BirdLife
Australia and members of the public to assist in
this project. Further calibration of this data will
continue to improve accuracy of detection specific
to Victorian birds. This work will contribute to
VicForests’ understanding of avian biodiversity
in the managed forest and will create a bird-call
library that will be made available to the public.
Throughout 2019-20 VicForests continued a
program of pre-harvest surveys investigating the
presence or absence of sensitive flora and fauna
designated as high conservation values.
Protecting high conservation values (HCV)
Last year VicForests undertook a review of
its protection of high conservation values at
the coupe level and used this information to
make significant changes to its harvesting
and regeneration systems in its eastern forest
management unit (east of the Hume Highway). The
protections considered at this level complement
the landscape level protections associated with
the Regional Forest Agreement process and
the parks and reserves system as well as those
required by the Code of Forest Practice for Timber
Production 2014 (the Code). These changes
were implemented on all new timber harvesting
operations commencing 1 July 2019 and included
the implementation of significant additional
habitat survey effort on every coupe to identify,
in particular, the presence and density of hollow
bearing, or likely future hollow bearing, trees.
Hollow bearing trees are a significant element of
many important and threatened forests species
including Leadbeater’s Possum, Greater Glider and
large forest owls that use these trees for denning,
nesting and roosting.
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Using this information in conjunction with species
sightings from surveys, including the DELWP
Forest Protection Survey Program, and other
high conservation value information, VicForests
plans its habitat retention requirements for each
coupe. It is VicForests’ aim to protect all hollow
bearing trees, where reasonably practical and
safe to do so. In addition to this greater level of
hollow bearing tree protection, VicForests is also
protecting other habitat elements such as trees
likely to become the next hollow bearing trees and
long-lived understory species. Through this review
of harvesting and regeneration systems VicForests
aims to reduce the use of its most intense
harvesting systems such as clearfall as well as
identifying opportunities to reduce the use of high
intensity regeneration burning to better protect
habitat and hollow bearing trees retained during
the harvesting operations.
In general, the regulatory regime, incorporated
into the Code of Practice for Timber Production
2014, requires the retention of approximately
4 to 5 habitat trees per hectare. VicForests has
created two new harvesting systems called
Variable Retention1 and Variable Retention 2
where it retains 10-20 and 20+ trees per hectare
respectively. VicForests has shifted a significant
proportion of its operations from clearfall to

these Variable Retention options with the aim
of protecting the vast majority of habitat trees
present and recruiting habitat trees for the future.
To evaluate this new approach, post-harvest
monitoring projects were set up with two main
objectives:
1.

Measure the density, extent, connectivity and
composition of retained habitat; and

2.

Assess the presence or absence and
persistence of arboreal mammals (as hollowdependent indicator fauna).

To date, monitoring shows that, on average, more
than 40% retention by area is being achieved,
using a combination of aggregated and dispersed
retention. Since Spring 2019, spotlighting surveys
were completed where arboreal mammals were
detected pre-harvest either within the planned
harvest area or in the immediate surrounding
forest prior to harvesting. Final results are yet to
be reported, but preliminary post-harvest results
are very encouraging, with arboreal mammals
recorded in areas harvested using varying levels of
retention.
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Sustainability charter
The Victorian Government’s Sustainability Charter
for Victoria’s State Forests lists seven initiatives
for the sustainable management of state forests.
These include the maintenance and conservation
of biodiversity, soil and water, while maintaining
and enhancing the many socio-economic benefits
of state forests to Victorian communities.
In accordance with the Sustainable Forests
(Timber) Act 2004, VicForests develop key
targets and initiatives to meet these objectives.
Implementation and progress against these
initiatives is set out below.

can continue to meet the demand for native
and plantation timber products whilst balancing
the preservation of flora and fauna in areas of
operation.
Across the 2019-20 reporting period, VicForests:
•

Finalised the 5-year planning framework that
confirms the available forest resources;

•

Deployed around 4,500 kg of seed to promote
new growth as part of VicForests’ bushfire
recovery assistance;

•

Placed the following activities on hold due to
coronavirus (COVID-19):

Initiative one
This initiative seeks to maintain and conserve
biological diversity in State forests through a range
of research and survey projects as well as the
implementation of new processes that improve
our Ecologically Sustainable Forest Management
System.
Across the 2019-20 reporting period, VicForests:
•

Conducted high conservation value surveys to
assess the impact of 2019/20 bushfires;

•

Worked with the Office of the Conservation
Regulator to develop an effective Old Growth
Field Assessment Tool which is now being
implemented across the state to identify old
growth forests and ensure their protection from
timber harvesting operations;

•

Utilised Habitat Tree assessment data to
develop a second iteration of a predictive
model that will assist VicForests to implement
new silvicultural methods that balance social,
environmental and economic values;

•

Began initial consultation with University
of Melbourne to explore opportunities for
collaborative research;

•

Continued discussions with UTAS to support an
extension of the bird call algorithm library to
include more Victorian birds which will improve
VicForests ability to identify and protect
habitats; and

•

Continued to gather operational data for
research, evaluation and internal audits
designed to continuously improve our
Ecologically Sustainable Forest Management
System.

Initiative two
This initiative seeks to maintain and improve the
capacity of forest ecosystems to produce wood
and non-wood products. It ensures that VicForests

•

Provisional coupe layer and resource
modelling; and

•

Assessment of forest age, structure and
connectivity at the landscape-scale.

Initiative three
This initiative promotes healthy forests by actively
managing disturbances and monitoring the longterm impacts and benefits of harvesting practices.
It also evaluates the implementation of VicForests’
harvesting and regeneration systems and High
Conservation Value protection measures.
Across the 2019-20 reporting period, VicForests:
•

Implemented the use of aerial photography to
evaluate retention levels; and

•

Developed a post-harvest fauna and flora
program to monitor presence and persistence
of threatened species post-harvest.

Initiative four
This initiative seeks to maintain and conserve the
soil and water resources of State forests as well as
overseeing VicForests’ compliance with the Code
of Practice for Timber Production.
Across the 2019-20 reporting period, VicForests:
•

Developed and implemented VicForests’
Roading Manual;

•

Updated modelled slope spatial data using
information from LiDAR to more accurately
identify areas of steep slope; and

•

Continued to Implement water testing at
certain watercourse locations downstream
of timber harvesting operations through the
purchase and use of speciality water quality
monitoring devices and processes.
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Initiative five
This initiative seeks to maintain and better
understand the role of Victoria’s forests in the
global carbon cycles. The core focus of this
initiative is to research, develop and implement
VicForests’ Carbon Strategy.
Across the 2019-20 reporting period, VicForests:
•

Developed a Carbon Management and
Emissions Reduction project brief. The
execution of the brief remains ongoing and was
delayed due to disruptions caused by the 201819 bushfires and coronavirus (COVID-19); and

•

Included carbon accounting and farm forestry
and their associated activities in its Industry
Transition submission to government.

Initiative six
This initiative seeks to maintain and enhance
the socio-economic benefits of State forests
to Victorian communities and to strengthen
VicForests relationships and engagement
practices with stakeholders. A detailed overview of
stakeholder engagement efforts can be found in
the Stakeholders section of this report.
Across the 2019-20 reporting period, VicForests:

•

Conducted an external review of regulatory
framework; and

•

Actively engaged with all relative Government
agencies on a regular basis.

Certification
Independent third-party certification provides
a standardised and objective measure of forest
management sustainability across many forest
industries and related supply chains. VicForests
has maintained Sustainable Forest Management
certification (Australian Forestry Standard - AS
4708) which operates as the Responsible Wood
Certification Scheme, since February 2007.
The Responsible Wood Certification Scheme
administers the Australian Forestry Standard,
which is endorsed by the Programme for the
Endorsement of Forest Certification (PEFC), the
world’s largest forest certification scheme.
In September 2019 and June 2020, independent
auditing body BSI Group ANZ Pty Ltd (BSI)
conducted routine surveillance audits of VicForests
forest management activities. The September
2019 audit noted VicForests had made significant
improvements in haulage safety management and
adaptive silviculture. VicForests is awaiting the
results of the June 2020 audit.
VicForests decided to postpone achieving the
FSC® Controlled Wood Standard by the end
of 2020. This decision is based off multiple
restrictions impeding completing the assessment,
including:

•

Conducted around 40 face-to-face briefings
with key stakeholders;

•

Hosted field trips with government and local
stakeholders

•

Distributed regular electronic direct mail (eDM)
notifications to our database of more than
1500 stakeholders; and

•

•

Held a webinar to discuss new harvesting
and regeneration reforms with stakeholders,
drawing 100 local, national and international
attendees.

Coronavirus (COVID-19) restrictions and
the difficulties in working with international
auditors, impacting the ability to complete their
in-field coupe assessment;

•

New challenges arising from the 2019-20
summer’s bushfires; and

Initiative seven

•

Increased litigation and subsequent resource
requirements.

This initiative ensures Victoria’s legal, institutional
and economic frameworks effectively support the
sustainable management of State forests.

VicForests remains committed to demonstrating
conformity to international standards for forest
management certification. This includes a
continued focus on consolidating the significant
changes that we have made introducing and
implementing adaptive harvest and regeneration
management systems and ensuring there is a
clear alignment with the current and emerging
forest management frameworks. VicForests is
dedicated to ensuring its operations continue to
remain an example of best-practice native forest
management.

Across the 2019-20 reporting period, VicForests:
•

Actively engaged with DELWP and DJPR on
Forest Management Activities;

•

Assisted DELWP with the development and
refinement of forest policy and practices
including Regional Forest Agreements and
a review of the Code of Practice for Timber
Production;

•

Developed VicForests’ Scientific Committee;
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Legal proceedings

WOTCH INC v VicForests (S ECI 2020 00373)

Friends of Leadbeater’s Possum Inc. v VicForests
(VID1228/2017)

On 28 January 2020, WOTCH commenced
proceedings against VicForests in the Supreme
Court alleging that VicForests’ timber harvesting
operations have failed, and will fail, to comply with
the precautionary principle and section 2.2.2.3
of the Code. As at the time of writing 26 coupes
are the subject of interlocutory injunctions and
the issue of the Plaintiff’s standing remains to be
determined by the Court. As a consequence of
coronavirus (COVID-19), the hearing of the matter
has been delayed until 2021.

In November 2017, Friends of Leadbeater’s
Possums Inc. (FoLP) filed a claim in the Federal
Court against VicForests regarding compliance
with the Commonwealth environmental laws in the
Central Highlands. The Court dismissed this claim
in early 2018 and FoLP then filed an amended
Statement of Claim that was heard by the Court
in June 2019 with written closing submissions and
replies completed and filed by early September
2019. Judgement for FoLP was delivered in May
2020, with final Orders being handed down in late
August 2020. VicForests has filed its appeal in the
Full Federal Court.
Fauna and Flora Research Collective Inc. v The
Secretary of the Department of the Environment,
Land, Water and Planning (DELWP) and VicForests
(SCI 2017 04392)
In October 2017, Fauna and Flora Research
Collective Inc. filed a claim in the Supreme Court
of Victoria against the Secretary of DELWP and
VicForests regarding the protection of old growth
forest in the East Gippsland Forest Management
Area. DELWP denied the claim and the matter
was heard by the Court in December 2018 and
February 2019, with judgement being reserved. In
November 2019, the Secretary sought to reopen
the matter on the basis of the Victoria Forestry
Plan and later the 2019-20 bushfires. Leave to
reopen was granted on a limited basis. The matter
is set down to be heard in November 2020.

Warburton Environment Inc. v VicForests (S ECI
2020 02461)
In June 2020, Warburton Environment Inc (WEI)
filed a proceeding in the Supreme Court against
VicForests regarding compliance with certain
provisions of the Code in one coupe in the Central
Highlands. The ambit of the claims has broadened
to extend across the Central Highlands. The
proceeding is expected to be heard sometime in
early-mid 2021.
Kinglake Friends of the Forest Inc. v VicForests (S
ECI 2020 2658)
In June 2020, Kinglake Friends of the Forest Inc
(Kinglake FoF) commenced proceedings against
VicForests in the Supreme Court relating to
alleged failures to comply with certain provisions
of the Code in a number of coupes in the Central
Highlands. In July 2020, Kinglake FoF expanded
its allegations against VicForests to encompass
all of the Central Highlands regarding the
failure to screen and overharvesting to include
past breaches dating back to 2014 and 2004
respectively. The proceeding is expected to be
heard around mid 2021.
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Summary of financial results

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

1,321,481

1,281,774

1,211,330

1,103,798

956,689

Income from sale of forest products

112,005

103,476

100,759

94,039

84,792

Stumpage (i)

36,505

29,063

27,718

22,066

19,405

32.6%

28.1%

27.5%

23.5%

22.9%

7,385

1,535

2,613

4,081

(1,585)

% of sales income

6.6%

1.5%

2.6%

4.3%

-1.9%

Net result from continuing operations after

3,424

(3,170)

1,218

1,953

(7,534)

3.1%

0.0%

1.2%

2.1%

-8.9%

7,784

3,456

6,933

(462)

22,807

Total assets

98,672

88,475

88,342

99,153

84,383

Total liabilities

32,912

25,885

24,534

33,392

26,156

Net worth

65,760

62,590

63,808

65,761

58,227

Net debt (ii) (iii)

(3,388)

3

(968)

5,642

(8,145)

N/A

0.0%

N/A

7.9%

N/A

Sales volume (m3)
$’000

% of sales revenue
Net result from transactions before income

tax

income tax
% of sales income
Net cash flow from operating activities

Gearing
(net debt/(net debt plus net worth))
Notes:

(i) Stumpage = income from sale of forest products less production expenses
(ii) Net debt = short-term debt plus long-term debt less cash and deposits
(iii) With the adoption of AASB 16 Leases on 1 July 2019, net debt for 2019-20 includes lease liabilities
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Income from sales of forest products
$’000
120,000
100,000
80,000
60,000
40,000
20,000

-2
19
20

20

18

-1

0

9

8
-1
17
20

-1
16
20

20

15

-1

7

6

0

Net result from transactions before income tax

$’000
8,000
7,000
6,000
5,000
4,000
3,000
2,000
1,000
0
-1,000

20
19
-2
0

20

18

-1

9

8
20
17
-1

7
20
16
-1

6

-2,000
20
15
-1
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Net result from continuing operations after income tax
$’000
4,000
2,000

0
-2,000
-4,000
-6,000

0
20

19

-2

9
20

18

-1

8
17

-1

-1
16

20

20

20

15

-1

6

7

-8,000

Gearing (net debt/(net debt plus net worth))

10%
9%
8%
7%

5%
4%
3%
2%
1%

0
-2
20
19

18
-1
9
20

18
720
1

17
620
1

15
-

16

0

20

Percentage

6%
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Financial and business performance
Despite the challenges faced by VicForests as
outlined in the Chair and CEO report, VicForests
delivered a solid operating performance for the
financial year ended 30 June 2020. VicForests
returned a net loss from transactions after income
tax of $1.0 million and a net loss from continuing
operations after income tax of $7.5 million.
The main item contributing to the net loss
from continuing operations for the year is the
recognition of an impairment to the carrying
value biological assets of $8.4 million arising
from the Government’s decision to cease native
timber harvesting by 2030. Notwithstanding the
financial effect of the impairment and the effect
of bushfires and the far reaching implications
of coronavirus (COVID-19), costs remained
consistent with those of the prior corresponding
period with the notable exception of roading costs
which were higher due to the effect of bushfire
activity and additional sunk costs resulting from
injuncted coupes.
Production costs decreased by $6.6 million
due to lower volumes as a direct result of lower
timber sales associated with the aforementioned
bushfires.
In respect of the balance sheet, financial assets
decreased by $11.4 million due primarily to a
decrease in receivables associated with amounts
receivable from Victorian government entities in
2019. In relation to non-financial assets, biological
timber assets decreased by $5.6 million due in part
to the impairment outlined above, while property,
plant and equipment increased by $0.6 million.
Inventories remained relative stable for the period.

Liabilities decreased by $7.2 million due primarily
to short term borrowing facilities being repaid in
full during the year. VicForests generated a positive
operating cash flow of $22.8 million. These funds
were utilised as follows: $5.9 million was reinvested
into the regeneration of biological assets, net
borrowings were repaid and $0.5 million was
invested primarily in roading, computer equipment
and software.

Public return on investment
VicForests and its native and plantation timber
harvesting continue to generate and support
thousands of jobs across regional Victoria as
well as provide end-use products that Australians
use every day from furniture to structural timber
and even paper. A Deloitte Access Economics
report published in 2017 found that VicForests, its
customers and contractors generated $770 million
in revenue during 2015-16, supporting more than
2500 jobs. The native timber industry continues
to be a key employer in many towns in regional
Victoria where there is limited other forms of
employment. In Morwell, the native timber industry
supports 1400 jobs or 19 per cent of the total FullTime Equivalent (FTE) employment in the area.
Across the 2019-20 reporting period VicForests
supported 48 local small to medium sized
businesses through various contracts as well as
increasing its FTE employment from 115.8 to 129.6.
We provide much-needed jobs and products for
all Victorians and we are proud to continue this
service.
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Progress against 2019-20 strategic initiatives
Initiative

Progress

Initiative 1

VicForests developed a Leadership Capability Framework that outlines the behaviours
expected by management and it will be implemented as part of the performance
Annual Planning Process for managers in the next financial year.

Developing and
Maintaining a
Skilled, Safe
and Innovative
Workforce

The People Matters Survey has been delayed by the Victorian Public Sector
Commission due to the coronavirus (COVID-19) and is expected to be conducted next
financial year.
Safety and Wellbeing initiatives have been flexible and responsive to unprecedented
events. Wellbeing has focused on resilience and response to trauma. Small peer group
sessions followed by one on one coaching with organisational psychologists have
supported staff.
VicForests is pleased to report that there were no truck rollovers in the 2019-20
year. Additionally, there was only 1 instance of lost time injury (LTI) for staff and 2 for
contractors. All injuries sustained were not severe. These are the lowest injury numbers
in VicForests’ history.

Initiative 2
Striving for
Operational
Excellence
to Support
Financial
Sustainability

Initiative 3
Improving
Environmental
and Social
Stewardship

VicForests appointed a dedicated resource modeller in February 2020 to implement an
optimised and data-driven operations process.
The majority of customer and contractor tenures negotiated to the end of 2024
aligned to the Victorian Forestry Plan.
We are in the final stages of our 5-year plan for technical processes and the
implementation of structural changes into operations processes is anticipated
between October 2020 and March 2021.
VicForests maintained its AS 4708 Responsible Wood certification, a certification it has
held since 2007.
Responsible Wood surveillance audits were conducted in September 2019 and June
2020. No major corrective actions were identified and VicForests remains certified to
that standard.
An FSC® Controlled Wood audit was conducted by SCS Global in November 2019.
Corrective actions were identified and VicForests developed a project plan to
rectify these by June 2020. However, our significant bushfire response, coronavirus
(COVID-19) constraints and multiple legal proceedings have delayed this work.
VicForests has begun to develop a Reflect Reconciliation Action Plan to better
understand its responsibilities as an organisation operating on traditional land.
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Initiative

Progress

Initiative 4

VicForests initiated its transformation program which will retain current harvest levels
up to 2024, then see a reduction over time through to cessation by 2030.

Developing the
Business for the
Future

We established the Board Business Development and Innovation Committee which
oversees various initiatives of the transformation project.
We established 246ha of blue gum plantations in Gippsland with strong seedling
survival and growth rates on two of the three blocks. The third site was subject to an
insect infestation and high levels of harvesting slash from the previous operation. We
also commenced site preparation for a further 246ha scheduled for 2020/21 planting.
We began work on the preferred site for a new VicForests nursery in the East Gippsland
town of Nowa Nowa. The nursery will improve Victoria’s eucalypt supply chain and
bring up to 30 ongoing full-time jobs to the region.
We commenced a review of the forest and fires service model following the 2019/20
bushfire recovery efforts. These included fire severity mapping, seed collection and
sowing services, recovery of timber arising from fire activities and construction of
strategic breaks.

Initiative 5
Using
Technology
and Data to
Improve Safety,
Efficiency,
Engagement
and Information

Initiative 6
Advocating for
the Future

VicForests continued its upgrade of all internal servers from 2008 to the latest 2019
software platform. Database systems are similarly being upgraded from 2008 to the
latest version.
Tablets were fitted to all contractor harvesters which will seek to reduce the amount
of “boots on ground” required to map retention patches. We also conducted further
testing of drones to assist smaller mapping tasks to reduce field work.
Aerial Imagery will be used 2-3 times a year to map boundaries of retained areas and
can also be used for annual harvesting history-planned for implementation in October
2020.
We continue to engage constructively with our stakeholder and interested members
of the community to facilitate a greater understanding of VicForests’ mission. A core
focus of communications this year has been the transformation project which will see
a gradual transition away from native forest harvesting to a plantation-based timber
supply.
The transformation team has sought input from the wider VicForests business to ensure
the transition of business from 2024-30 will be well executed.
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Workforce Data
Occupational health and safety
Near miss reporting remains the cornerstone of
safety for VicForests. We believe that near miss
reporting is the best way to drive down workplace
injuries and encourage a culture of trust and
accountability. VicForests has taken advantage
of our excellent reporting culture to understand
workplace safety and develop a set of leading
indicators for safety risks.
Near miss numbers remained at industry-leading
levels throughout 2019-20, with staff submitting
147 reports and contractors submitting 174
reports.

2019–20 OHS Reporting
Requirements

Target Result

Investigation of incidents
including Near Miss assessed
and risk rated

100%

100%

Lost Time and Medical
Treated injuries investigated,
regardless of risk rating

100%

100%

Targets and results for OHS reporting

The purpose of setting challenging targets is
to reduce injuries to staff and contractors and
2019/20 was very successful in this space. A
primary target of a 25% reduction to the total
injury frequency rate was set for this year and the
results were pleasing with the staff rate decreasing
from 47.6% to 17.0% and contractors from 12.5%
to 5.1%. Additionally, there was only 1 instance of
lost time injury (LTI) for staff and 2 for contractors.
All injuries sustained were not severe. This year’s
contractor LTI number was the lowest in the
history of VicForests and it is a great credit to our
contractors and the staff that work with them to
set a strong culture of workplace safety.
Another crucial part of the VicForests strategy is
our investment in external auditing. VicForests
engages Hodge Forestry, a widely respected
company with extensive experience in safety
management systems to conduct audits on our
behalf. All contractors participate in this audit
program and for field auditing we endeavour to
have a forester on site at every audit so that any
high-risk items can be addressed immediately
when they are identified. VicForests recognises
that an audit program is only as good as the

response to corrective actions. All audit actions
are risk rated and leading indicators are set with
a safety target of never having more than 10% of
actions overdue at any time. This effort monitored
and reported monthly and in 2019-20 the target
was achieved every month.
VicForests and its contractors will continue to
focus on maintaining effective safety management
systems and constantly challenging ourselves
with leading indicators for safety. There will be a
specific focus in the coming year on wellbeing, we
will be reaching out to contractors with a program
focused on men’s mental health.
Wellbeing – Bushfires and coronavirus (COVID-19)
The 2019-20 bushfires had a devastating impact
on many Victorians and VicForests staff and
contractors were a part of the critical suppression
activities for months on end, risking their lives and
properties to help those in crisis. VicForests was
acutely aware of the potential impact that this
trauma may have and engaged an organisational
psychologist to assist the transition back to normal
work. Small peer group debriefs were undertaken
followed up by one on one coaching/counselling.
This service was well received by staff, so much so
that VicForests has developed a whole-of-business
program to assist our staff with the challenges of
coronavirus (COVID-19) restrictions.
VicForests have also prioritised consultation with
staff during the pandemic restrictions, a home
parenting support group was formed and has met
weekly to help staff navigate the challenges of
home schooling whilst working from home. The
VicForests health and safety representatives have
also met weekly throughout this period to provide
updates to executive management.
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Enterprise bargaining agreement

from Government to undertake a staff ballot and
subsequently apply for ultimate approval of the
2019 Enterprise Bargaining Agreement at the Fair
Work Commission in late 2020.

With the current Enterprise bargaining agreement
(EBA) nominally expiring on 1 May 2019, in 201920 VicForests developed and negotiated a new
EBA.

Employment and conduct principles

The new proposed 2019 VicForests EBA was
developed in accordance with the Victorian
Government wages policy and Enterprise
Bargaining Framework that contains a secondary
pathway option that VicForests has chosen to
pursue. This option enables the business to rollover
the existing terms of the EBA for shorter periods.

The employment conduct and principles at
VicForests are underpinned by the VicForests
Code of Conduct and the Victorian Public Sector
Commission’s Code of Conduct for Victorian
Public Sector Employees. Both codes set out
expectations of employee behaviours operating at
an organisational and broader public sector level.

The terms and conditions of the proposed 201920 VicForests EBA were agreed to in-principle by
the Enterprise Bargaining Consultative committee
that comprised employee, union and employer
representatives on 8 May 2020. VicForests is
expected to receive the necessary approvals

VicForests, safer than ever before
Following many years of commitment and work from within VicForests and from
contractors, VicForests is pleased to report that there were no truck rollovers in
the 2019-20 year. When VicForests began haulage in 2006, we were experiencing
more than a rollover per month amongst the haulage fleet. This is an incredible
achievement and a testament to VicForests’ focus on standards, compliance,
education and accountability.
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Learning and development
During the 2019-20 financial year VicForests staff
completed a total of 1,371 training activities
representing a substantial increase when
compared to the previous financial year (1,072).
This can be attributed to additional training being
delivered across the business particularly in the
areas of Cyber Security, Leadership and Wellbeing.
Staff development supports the success of
individual staff and is integral to the sustainability
of the organisation now and into the future. Our
modes of development and training consist of
online training modules, face-to-face training,
blended training, mentoring, higher duties and
being involved in cross functional committees
and workgroups which can occur internally or
externally through a Training provider or industry
group.
This financial year, the Training Reference Group
was established and consisted of a cross section
of departmental representatives that participated
in the review of the scope and delivery of
compliance training for VicForests staff. This group
of VicForests representatives assisted in informing
the new staff of mandatory training requirements
and delivery methods and the development of
a training calendar for face-to-face operational
training to ensure that VicForests and its staff
are adhering to is legislative requirements as an
employer, forestry obligations and providing staff
the necessary information in order for them to
succeed in their roles.

Diversity and inclusion
VicForests believes that diversity and inclusion are
important principles, and that a culture which is
diverse and inclusive benefits both our employees
and the organisation. Although significant work has
been completed to date with respect to achieving
gender equality within the workplace, this year the
business has broadened its scope to incorporate
other protected attributes that are protected by
law such as age, ethnicity and sexual orientation.
The VicForests Diversity and Inclusion policy
was developed and approved by the Board to
demonstrate VicForests’ commitment to removing
any barriers that exist and ensuring an inclusive
and fair workplace for all, to ultimately achieve
improved diversity.
Our selection processes continue to ensure that
applicants are assessed and evaluated fairly and
equitably on the basis of the key selection criteria
and other accountabilities.
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Employment details
Employment details
(i)

Details of employment levels in June 2019 and June 2020

The following table discloses the head count and full-time staff equivalent (FTE) of all active employees of
VicForests, employed in the last full pay period in June of the current reporting period (2020), and in the
last full pay period in June of the previous reporting period (2019).
June 2020
Head count
Demographic
data

Full-time Part-time

June 2019
FTE(i)

Full-time Part-time

FTE(i)

Gender
Male

81

7

85.7

76

3

78.2

Female

32

16

43.9

25

17

37.6

113

23

129.6

101

20

115.8

15-24

6

1

6.6

4

1

4.7

25-34

23

-

23.0

18

-

18.0

35-44

27

9

33.6

22

12

30.8

45-54

29

6

33.8

27

3

29.4

55-64

22

5

25.8

25

3

27.2

65+

6

2

6.8

5

1

5.7

113

23

129.6

101

20

115.8

1

-

1

0.6

-

1

0.7

2

10

1

10.8

6

1

6.6

3

23

6

26.8

20

5

23.7

4

37

8

43.2

35

7

40.3

5

25

6

29.4

22

6

26.5

6

10

1

10.8

11

-

11.0

105

23

121.6

94

20

108.8

Other

1

-

1.0

1

-

1.0

Executives(iv)

7

-

7.0

6

-

6.0

113

23

129.6

101

20

115.8

Self-described(v)
Total
Breakdown (age)

Total

Classification
data

Career level(ii)

Sub-total
(iii)

Total
Notes:

(i) FTE = Full-time equivalent is based on paid working hours of 38 ordinary hours per week over the 52 weeks for a reporting
period
(ii) Career level per VicForests’ Enterprise Agreement 2015
(iii) Other = non-executive employees at a career level greater than 6
(iv) Executives includes the Accountable Officer who is a paid full-time employee of VicForests
(v) No data collected
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(ii)

Annualised total salary, by $20,000 bands, for executives and other senior non-executive
staff(i)

The following table discloses the annualised total salary for senior employees of VicForests,
excluding the Accountable Officer(ii), categorised by classification. The salary amount is
reported as the full-time annualised salary as at the last full pay period in June 2020.
Executives
Number

Other
Number(i)

$200,000 - $219,999

3

-

$220,000 - $239,999

1

-

$240,000 - $259,999

1

-

$260,000 - $279,999

1

-

Total

6

-

Income band (salary)(ii)

(iii)

Notes:
(i) Due to privacy considerations the income band for one senior non-executive staff member has not been disclosed.
(ii) The total remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable Officer in connection with the management of
VicForests during the reporting period is separately disclosed in Note 8.4 to the Financial Statements.
(iii) The salaries reported are for the full financial year, at a 1-FTE rate, and exclude superannuation.

31

32

other disclosures

Other Disclosures
Local jobs first
The Victorian Participation Policy Act 2003 was amended to the Local Jobs First Act
2003 in August 2018. Consistent with the Act, the Local Jobs First Policy is comprised
of the Victorian Industry Participation Policy (VIPP) and the Major Project Skills
Guarantee (MPSG).
Departments and public-sector bodies are required to apply the Local Jobs First Policy
in all projects valued at $3 million or more in metropolitan Melbourne or for state-wide
projects, or $1 million or more for projects in regional Victoria.
MPSG applies to all construction projects valued at $20 million or more.
The MPSG guidelines and VIPP guideline will continue to apply to MPSG applicable and
VIPP applicable projects respectively where contracts have been entered prior to 15
August 2018.
During 2019-20, VicForests’ Local Jobs First outcomes were as follows:

Number

Value

Local
content

Nil

N/A

N/A

3

$14,680,000

96%

State-wide

Nil

N/A

N/A

Contracts completed
where a VIPP or
LIDP(i) was required

Metropolitan

Nil

N/A

N/A

Regional

Nil

N/A

N/A

State-wide

Nil

N/A

N/A

Contracts
commenced where
a VIPP or LIDP(i) was
not required

Local by nature

Nil

N/A

N/A

International
by nature

Nil

N/A

N/A

48

$11,551,475

96%

Local Jobs First Standard
Contracts
commenced where
a VIPP or LIDP(i) was
required

Metropolitan
Regional

Small to medium sized businesses
engaged as either principal
contractor or part of the supply chain
No grant or design contracts were entered into
Note:
(i) LIDP = Local Industry Development Plan

VicForests did not enter into any Local Jobs First Strategic projects ($50 million or
more) or any MPSG projects during the 2019-20 reporting period.

Government advertising expenditure
No government advertising expenditure was incurred by VicForests during the
reporting period.
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Information and communication technology expenditure
For the 2019-20 reporting period, VicForests had a total information and
communication technology (ICT) expenditure of $1,119,718 with the details shown
below.
Non-BAU ICT expenditure related to projects to
create or enhance ICT capabilities (iii)
Total ICT
expenditure
(i)

BAU ICT
expenditure
(ii)

Total NonBAU ICT
expenditure

Non-BAU ICT
operational
expenditure
(OPEX)

Non-BAU
ICT capital
expenditure
(CAPEX)

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

1,120

1,105

-

15

-

Notes:
(i) ICT expenditure refers to VicForests’ costs in providing business enabling ICT services within
the current reporting period. It comprises Business as Usual (BAU) ICT expenditure and
Non-Business as Usual (Non-BAU) ICT expenditure.
(ii) BAU ICT expenditure is all remaining ICT expenditure which primarily relates to ongoing
activities to operate and maintain the current ICT capability.
(iii) Non-BAU ICT expenditure relates to extending or enhancing VicForests’ current ICT
capabilities.

Consultancy expenditure
Details of consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater)
In 2019-20 there were four consultancies where the total fees payable to the
consultant was $10,000 or greater. The total expenditure incurred during 2019-20 in
relation to these consultancies was $504,979 (excluding GST). Details are outlined
below.

Consultant

Purpose of
consultancy

Total
approved Expenditure
Future
project fee
2019-20 expenditure
$’000

$’000

$’000

Bevington Consulting
Pty Ltd

Resourcing
specialist
review

206

192

14

Deloitte Financial
Advisory Pty Ltd

Strategic
review

154

154

0

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Strategic
review

404

109

295

Sunshot Energy Trading
Pty Ltd

Low carbon
strategy

190

50

140

954

505

449

Total consultancy
expenditure

Details of consultancies (valued under $10,000)
In 2019-20, there was one consultancy engaged during the year, where the total fee
payable to the individual consultancy was less than $10,000 (excluding GST). The
total expenditure incurred during 2019-20 in relation to this consultancy was $8,800
(excluding GST).
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Disclosure of major contracts
In 2019-20 VicForests entered into three
contracts with a value over $10 million including
two sawmilling contracts and one roadside
management contract. The details of these
contracts have not been released as they are
commercial in confidence.

Freedom of information
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 allows the
public a right of access to documents held by
VicForests. The purpose of the Act is to extend as
far as possible the right of the community to access
information held by government departments, local
councils, Ministers and other bodies subject to the
Act.
An applicant has a right to apply for access to
documents held by VicForests. This comprises
documents created by VicForests or supplied to
VicForests by an external organisation or individual.
Information about the type of material produced by
VicForests is available on VicForests’ website under
the Legal section.
The Act allows VicForests to refuse access, either
fully or partially, to certain exempt documents
or information. Examples of documents that
may be exempt include: some internal working
documents; documents subject to privilege, such
as legal advice; personal information about other
people; and information about a business of a
commercial or financial nature that would be likely
to unreasonably expose VicForests to disadvantage.
Freedom of Information (FoI) requests must be
determined within 30 days. In some cases, this time
may be extended.
If an applicant is not satisfied by a decision made
by VicForests, under section 49A of the Act, they
have the right to seek a review by the Office of the
Victorian Information Commissioner (OVIC) within
28 days of receiving a decision letter.
Making a request
FoI requests can be made by mail or email to the
VicForests’ Freedom of Information Officer. From
1 July 2019 an application fee of $29.60 applies to
each request. Access charges may also apply, for
example, for photocopying and search and retrieval
charges or where the document pool is large and
the search for material is time consuming.
When making an FoI request, applicants should
ensure requests are in writing, and clearly identify
what types of documents are being sought.
The request should be accompanied by the

application fee (the fee may be waived in certain
circumstances).
Requests for documents in the possession of
VicForests should be addressed to:
Freedom of Information Officer
VicForests
GPO Box 191
Melbourne VIC 3001
Email: vfs.foi@vicforests.com.au
Freedom of information statistics and timeliness
In 2019-20 VicForests received seven applications.
Of these requests, one was transferred from
another Victorian government entity. All were
from members of the public. Two requests were
granted in part, one was not proceeded with by the
applicant and four were ongoing at the end of the
reporting period.
All requests were dealt with within the 30 days
required by the Freedom of Information Act 1982.
During 2019-20 one request was reviewed by
OVIC. It did not progress to the Victorian Civil and
Administrative Tribunal (VCAT).
One review by OVIC in the 2018-19 reporting
period progressed to VCAT in the 2019-20 reporting
period.
Further information
Further information regarding the operation
and scope of FoI can be obtained from the Act,
regulations made under the Act, and
www.ovic.vic.gov.au.

Compliance with the Building Act
1993
VicForests does not own or control any government
buildings and consequently is exempt from
notifying its compliance with the building and
maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993.

Competitive neutrality policy
Competitive neutrality requires government
businesses to ensure that where services compete,
or potentially compete with the private sector, any
advantage arising solely from their government
ownership be removed if it is not in the public
interest. Government businesses are required
to cost and price these services as if they were
privately owned. Competitive neutrality policy
supports fair competition between public and
private business and provides government
businesses with a tool to enhance decisions on
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resource allocation. This policy does not override
other policy objectives of government and focuses
on efficiency in the provision of service.
VicForests continues to comply with the
requirements of the NCP.

Compliance with the Public Interest
Disclosures Act 2012
The Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012
encourages and assists people in making
disclosures of improper conduct by public officers
and public bodies. It provides protection to people
who make disclosures in accordance with the Act
and establishes a system for matters disclosed to
be investigated and rectified.
VicForests does not tolerate improper conduct
by employees, nor the taking of reprisals
against those who have come forward to
disclose such conduct. We are committed to
ensuring transparency and accountability in our
administrative and management practices and
support the making of disclosures that reveal
corrupt conduct, conduct involving a substantial
mismanagement of public resources, or conduct
involving a substantial risk to public health and
safety or the environment.

Further information
The Protected Disclosure Policy and Procedures,
which outline the system for reporting disclosures
of improper conduct or detrimental action by
VicForests or any of its employees and/or officers,
are available on VicForests’ website
www.vicforests.com.au.

Disclosures under the Public
Interest Disclosures Act 2012
No assessable disclosures were made by an
individual to VicForests and notified to IBAC during
the 2019-20 reporting period (2018-19: Nil).

Additional information available on
request
In compliance with the requirements of the
Standing Directions 2018 under the Financial
Management Act 1994, details in respect of
the items listed below have been retained by
VicForests and are available on request, subject to
the provisions of the Freedom of Information Act
1982.
•

Declarations of pecuniary interests have been
duly completed by all relevant officers.

VicForests will take all reasonable steps to protect
people who make such disclosures from any
detrimental action in reprisal for making the
disclosure. We will also afford natural justice to the
person who is the subject of the disclosure, to the
extent it is legally possible.

•

No shares are held by key management
personnel as nominee or held beneficially in a
statutory authority or subsidiary.

•

Annual Reports are produced on an annual
basis and are available from VicForests’ website
www.vicforests.com.au.

Reporting procedures

•

Disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental
action by VicForests or any of its employees and/or
officers may be made to the Independent BroadBased Anti-Corruption Commission (IBAC):

Details of changes in prices, fees, charges,
rates and levies charged by VicForests cannot
be disclosed due to confidentiality clauses in
underlying agreements with customers.

•

There were no major external reviews carried
out on VicForests during the 2019-20 reporting
period.

•

Major research and development activities
were carried out by VicForests in relation to
the development of a biodiversity conservation
methodology and the development of an
integrated forestry management and decisionmaking model. Refer to the VicForests’ website
www.vicforests.com.au for more information.

•

All overseas visits undertaken by VicForests’
personnel during the 2019-20 reporting period
related to market development.

Level 1, North Tower
459 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
Internet: www.ibac.vic.gov.au.
Email: See the website above for the secure
email disclosure process, which also provides for
anonymous disclosures.
To ensure independence and integrity, VicForests
cannot receive disclosures made under the Act. All
such disclosures should therefore be made directly
to IBAC.
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•

•

Details of major promotional, public relations
and marketing activities undertaken by
VicForests to develop community awareness
of VicForests and its services are included in
the “Stakeholder Engagement” section of this
report.
Details of assessments and measures
undertaken to improve the occupational health
and safety of employees during the 2019-20
reporting period are included in the Workforce
Data section of this report.

•

Details of lost time through industrial accidents
during the 2019-20 financial year are included
in the Workforce Data section of this report.
There was no lost time through industrial
relations disputes within VicForests during the
2019-20 reporting period.

•

No major external committees were sponsored
by VicForests during the 2019-20 reporting
period.

•

Details of all consultancy services and
expenditure are included in this section under
the heading Consultancy Expenditure.

The information is available on request from:
Freedom of Information Officer
VicForests
GPO Box 191
Melbourne VIC 3001
Email: vfs.foi@vicforests.com.au

Attestation for financial
management compliance with
Standing Direction 5.1.4
Vicforests’ financial management compliance
attestation statement
I, Monique Dawson, on behalf of the Responsible
Body, certify that VicForests has no Material
Compliance Deficiencies with respect to the
applicable Standing Directions of the Minister for
Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994
and Instructions. The VicForests’ Audit, Finance and
Risk Committee has reviewed the Attestation.

Monique Dawson
Chief Executive Officer
12 October 2020

Compliance with DataVic access
policy
Consistent with the DataVic Access Policy issued
by the Victorian Government in 2012, VicForests
has made datasets available on the DataVic
website in 2019-20. Information included in this
Annual Report will also be available at
www.data.vic.gov.au in electronic readable format.

Compliance with model financial
report
This report references the streamlined 201920 Model Report for Victorian Government
Departments (the Model). Use of the Model by
public sector agencies promotes consistency and
comparability and it has been used as a guide by
VicForests, where and to the extent applicable, for
the 2019-20 reporting period.
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Certification of the financial statements

V I C F O R E S T S A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 1 9 - 20

Certification of the financial statements

The attached financial statements for VicForests have been prepared in accordance with Direction 5.2 of the Standing
Directions of the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting
Directions, Australian Accounting Standards including Interpretations, and other mandatory professional reporting
requirements.
We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet,
statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and accompanying notes, presents fairly the financial transactions
during the year ended 30 June 2020 and the financial position of VicForests at 30 June 2020.
At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which would render any particulars included in the financial
statements to be misleading or inaccurate.
We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on 12 October 2020.

Signed ................................

Signed ................................

Signed ................................

Christopher Lovell
Chair
Melbourne
Date: 12 October 2020

Monique Dawson
Chief Executive Officer
Melbourne
Date: 12 October 2020

Darryn Kamp
Chief Financial Officer
Melbourne
Date: 12 October 2020
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Auditor-General’s report

Independent
Auditor’s
Report
Independent
Auditor’s
Report
the Board of VicForests
To the Board ofTo
VicForests

Opinion

Opinion

I have audited the financial report of VicForests (the entity) which comprises the:

I have audited the financial report of VicForests (the entity) which comprises the:









balance sheet as at 30 June 2020

balance sheet
as at 30 June operating
2020 statement for the year then ended

comprehensive

statement
of
changes
in equity
for the
year
thenended
ended
comprehensive operating statement
for the
year
then

cash flow statement for the year then ended
statement of changes in equity for the year then ended

notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies
cash flow statement for the year then ended

certification of the financial statements.
notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies
In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial
certification
of the financial statements.
position of the entity as at 30 June 2020 and their financial performance and cash flows for

the financial
year then ended
accordance
with the
financial
reporting
requirements
of Part 7 of the
In my opinion the
reportinpresents
fairly,
in all
material
respects,
the financial
Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.
position of the entity as at 30 June 2020 and their financial performance and cash flows for
Basisyear
for then ended
I have conducted
my audit
in accordance
withreporting
the Audit Act
1994 which incorporates
thethe
the
in accordance
with
the financial
requirements
of Part 7 of
Opinion
Australian
Auditing
Standards.
I
further
describe
my
responsibilities
under
that
Act
and
Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section

Basis for
Opinion

of my
I have conducted
myreport.
audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the
Australian Auditing
Standards.
I further
describe
my responsibilities
under
My independence is
established
by the Constitution
Act 1975. My
staff that
and I Act
are and
independent
of
the
entity
in
accordance
with
the
ethical
requirements
of
the
Accounting
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report
section
Professional
and
Ethical
Standards
Board’s
APES
110
Code
of
Ethics
for
Professional
of my report.
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My

staffisand
I have also fulfilled
other ethical
responsibilities
in accordance
My independence
established
by the our
Constitution
Act
1975. My staff
and I arewith the Code.
independent ofI the
entity
in
accordance
with
the
ethical
requirements
of
the Accounting
believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a
Professional and
Ethical
basis
for myStandards
opinion. Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My
Board’s
The Board of the entity is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
staff
and I havefinancial
also fulfilled
other ethical
responsibilities
in Standards
accordance
the Code.
responsibilities
report our
in accordance
with Australian
Accounting
and with
the Financial
the
Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary
Ifor
believe
that the
audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
financial
to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from
basis
for
my
opinion.
report
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Board’s
responsibilities
for the
financial
report

In preparing
the financial report,
thepreparation
Board is responsible
forpresentation
assessing the entity’s
The Board of the
entity is responsible
for the
and fair
of theability to
continue
as
a
going
concern,
disclosing,
as
applicable,
matters
related
to
going
concern and
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial
using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so.
Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary
to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so.
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Auditor’s
responsibilities
for the audit
of the financial
report

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:









identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control
evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board
conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
entity to cease to continue as a going concern.
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that I identify during my audit.

MELBOURNE
19 October 2020

Simone Bohan
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria
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Comprehensive operating statement
for the year ended 30 June 2020
2020

2019

Notes

$’000

$’000

Sale of forest products

2.2

84,792

94,039

Other income from Victorian Government entities

2.3

18,084

18,718

76

196

188

345

103,140

113,298

Continuing operations
Income from transactions

Interest income
Other income
Total income from transactions
Expenses from transactions
Production expenses

3.2

(65,387)

(71,973)

Employee benefits expense

3.3

(17,688)

(16,230)

Roading expenses

3.4

(7,413)

(6,154)

Depreciation and amortisation

4.1

(4,384)

(3,774)

(96)

(17)

(9,757)

(11,069)

(104,725)

(109,217)

Borrowing expenses
Other operating expenses

3.5

Total expenses from transactions
Net result from transactions before income tax

3.6.1

(1,585)

4,081

Income tax benefit/(expense) on net result from transactions

3.6.1

583

(992)

(1,002)

3,089

Net result from transactions after income tax
Other economic flows included in net result
Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments

8.2

44

(38)

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets

8.2

(9,314)

(1,236)

Other loss from other economic flows

8.2

(61)

(347)

(9,331)

(1,621)

2,799

485

Total other economic flows included in net result after income
tax

(6,532)

(1,136)

Net result from continuing operations after income tax

(7,534)

1,953

Comprehensive result

(7,534)

1,953

Other economic flows included in net result before income tax
Income tax benefit relating to other economic flows

3.6.1

The above comprehensive operating statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Balance sheet
as at 30 June 2020

2020

2019

Notes

$’000

$’000

Cash and deposits

6.3, 7.1

9,805

-

Receivables

2.4, 7.1

15,437

36,609

25,242

36,609

4.3, 7.3.1

39,958

45,607

3.9

8,498

8,968

4.4, 7.3.2

5,688

5,080

3.6.2

4,591

2,459

406

430

59,141

62,544

84,383

99,153

3.7, 7.1

8,573

11,182

6.1, 6.2, 7.1

1,660

5,642

3.3.2

5,441

4,832

3.8

2,563

2,965

3.6.2

5,300

6,550

5.2

2,619

2,221

Total liabilities

26,156

33,392

Net assets

58,227

65,761

Assets
Financial assets

Total financial assets
Non-financial assets
Biological assets
Inventories
Property, plant and equipment
Tax assets
Other non-financial assets
Total non-financial assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Payables
Borrowings (i)
Employee benefits provisions
Other provisions
Tax liabilities
Other liabilities

Equity
Contributed equity

6.5.1

45,000

45,000

Physical asset revaluation reserve

6.5.2

1,858

2,645

Accumulated surplus

11,369

18,116

Net worth

58,227

65,761

Note:
(i) Borrowings for 2019 includes a bank overdraft of $49,481.
The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2020
Contributed
capital

Asset
revaluation Accumulated
reserve
surplus

Total equity

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

45,000

2,645

16,163

63,808

-

-

1,953

1,953

Balance at 30 June 2019

45,000

2,645

18,116

65,761

Balance at 30 June 2019

45,000

2,645

18,116

65,761

Net result after income tax for the year

-

-

(7,534)

(7,534)

Transfer to accumulated surplus on disposal
of assets

-

(787)

787

-

45,000

1,858

11,369

58,227

Balance at 1 July 2018
Net result after income tax for the year

Balance at 30 June 2020

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2020
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Receipts from external customers

94,339

104,841

Receipts from Victorian Government entities

42,054

6,696

124

153

Other receipts

14

197

Total receipts

136,531

111,887

(111,091)

(111,350)

(2,524)

(997)

(109)

(2)

(113,724)

(112,349)

22,807

(462)

Investment of deposits

-

(8,500)

Drawdown of deposits

-

8,500

(5,937)

(5,289)

(540)

(746)

(42)

(116)

1

3

(6,518)

(6,148)

14,935

11,933

(20,528)

(6,340)

(842)

-

(6,435)

5,593

9,854

(1,017)

(49)

968

9,805

(49)

Notes
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts

Interest received

Payments
Payments to suppliers and employees (i)
Net GST paid to/refunded by the Australian Taxation Office
Interest and other costs of finance paid
Total payments
Net cash inflow from operating activities

6.2

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for capitalised biological timber assets
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Purchases of intangible assets
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Net cash flows used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities (ii)
Net cash outflow from financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and deposits
Cash and deposits at the beginning of the financial year
Cash/(overdraft) and deposits at the end of the financial year

6.3, 7.1

Notes:
(i) Payments to supplier and employees includes payments for logs in inventory.
(ii) VicForests has recognised payments for the principal portion of lease payments as financing activities; cash payments
for the interest portion as operating activities consistent with the presentation of interest payments for leases and shortterm lease payments for leases as operating activities.
The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Note 1

About this report
Note 1.1 Corporate information
VicForests is a State owned enterprise established on 28 October 2003 by the Governor
in Council acting under Section 14 of the State Owned Enterprises Act 1992. VicForests
commenced operations on 1 August 2004. The Board of VicForests is directly
accountable to the Victorian Government through the Minister of Agriculture, and the
Treasurer. Its principal address is Level 12, 461 Bourke Street, Melbourne Victoria 3000.
These annual financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial
statements for VicForests for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 (the ‘reporting
period’) and include the financial position of VicForests as at 30 June 2020 (‘the
reporting date’).
A description of the nature of VicForests operations and its principal activities is
included in the ‘A Year in Review’ Report which does not form part of these financial
statements.

Note 1.2 Compliance information
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA), including the Financial Reporting Directions
(FRDs), and applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) which include
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).
In particular they are presented in a manner consistent with the requirements of AASB
1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting.

Note 1.3 Basis of preparation
These financial statements are in Australian dollars, the functional and presentation
currency of VicForests, and the historical cost convention is used unless a different
measurement basis is specifically disclosed in the note associated with the item
measured on a different basis.
The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in preparing these financial
statements, whereby assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in
the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.
Accounting policies selected and applied in these financial statements ensure that
the resulting financial information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability,
thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is
reported.
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial
information being presented. The significant judgements made in the preparation
of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts affected by
those judgements are disclosed. Estimates and associated assumptions are based on
professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

V I C FO R E STS A N N UA L R E PO R T 2 0 1 9 - 2 0

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate
is revised and in future periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and
assumptions made by management in applying AAS that have significant effects on the
financial statements and estimates are disclosed under the relevant notes:
•

Note 3.8		

Other provisions - provision for regeneration make-good

•

Note 4.3		

Biological assets

•

Note 7.3.1		

Fair value determination of biological assets

These financial statements cover VicForests as an individual reporting entity
and incorporate all activities of VicForests. VicForests has not provided segment
information in relation to its operations as its operations are limited to the harvest,
commercial sale and regrowing of timber from Victoria’s state forests; those operations
being predominantly confined to Victoria.
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. VicForests is
a for profit entity for the purposes of preparing these financial statements.
All amounts in the report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars unless
otherwise stated.
Goods and services tax (GST)
•

Income, expenses and assets (excluding trade receivables) are recognised
exclusive of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from
the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In these circumstances the GST is recognised
as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of expense.

•

Trade receivables and trade payables are stated inclusive of GST. The net amount of
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a statutory receivable or
statutory payable respectively in the balance sheet.

•

Cash flows arising from investing and financing activities are disclosed in the cash
flow statement on a net basis, i.e. exclusive of GST. The GST component of cash
flows from investing and financing activities is included in the operating cash flows.
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Note 2

Funding delivery of our services
Introduction
This section provides an account of the income that funds the delivery of VicForests’
services, and the receivables associated with that income. Income is received from
a variety of sources, including the receipt of specific purpose grants to support the
delivery of Victorian Government policy objectives. (See Note 2.3).
Structure
This section includes:
•

Note 2.1 		

Summary of income that funds the delivery of our services

•

Note 2.2 		

Sale of forest products

•

Note 2.3 		

Other income from Victorian Government entities

•

Note 2.4 		

Receivables

Note 2.1 Summary of income that funds the delivery of our
services
2020

2019

Notes

$’000

$’000

Sale of forests products

2.2

84,792

94,039

Other income from Victorian Government
entities

2.3

18,084

18,718

76

196

188

345

103,140

113,298

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Sale of sawlogs

43,716

48,861

Sale of residual logs

38,905

43,287

2,171

1,891

84,792

94,039

Interest income
Other income
Total income from transactions

Note 2.2 Sale of forest products

Sale of other products
Total sale of forest products

Income from forest products is generated from the sale of graded and ungraded
sawlogs, residual logs and other products including bearer logs, firewood, poles, piles
and posts, seed and all community forestry sales income.
This income arises from contracts with customers and is recognised as and when
VicForests satisfies or fulfils the specific performance obligations in the contracts. The
income that is recognised is an amount that can be reliably measured and reflects the
consideration to which VicForests is entitled in exchange for transferring the forest
products or services to the customer. The amounts disclosed are net of returns and
taxes paid.
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A transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation and the income is then
recognised when the obligations are satisfied.
For the majority of forest product sales, the performance obligation is when the
product is delivered to the buyer’s facility. The transaction price for these sales is
inclusive of harvest and haulage costs recoverable (as applicable).
For the remainder of the forest product sales the performance obligation is generally
satisfied when the customer collects the product from VicForests. The transaction
price for these sales varies. Where standing timber or seed is sold, the sale price does
not include harvest or haulage costs recoverable, whereas ‘on-truck’ log sales include
harvesting costs recoverable.

Note 2.3 Other income from Victorian Government entities
Notes

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

-

11,077

775

-

Specific purpose grants
Reimbursement of foregone income
for the Leadbeater’s Possum recovery
program
Bushfire salvage funding
Community forestry

5.2

226

678

Farm forestry funding

5.2

112

-

1,113

11,755

12,000

-

Provision of employees to assist with
firefighting activities

2,206

1,161

Reimbursement for regeneration works
undertaken on public land

1,732

-

Reimbursement for income lost and expenses
incurred due to the Allocation Order and
Timber Release Plan delays

809

4,851

Other

224

951

18,084

18,718

Sub-total
Provision of non-commercial community and
environmental services

Total other income from Victorian
Government entities

8.6

VicForests receives income from Victorian Government specific purpose grants.
This income is recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attached conditions, including performance obligations, will be
complied with.
For the year ending 30 June 2020 grant income was received for undertaking bushfire
salvage activities, the management of community forestry activities, and undertaking
activities relating to the new farm forestry initiative of the Victorian Government. (See
Note 5.2 in relation to the deferred liabilities associated with the community forestry
and farm forestry funding grants). The Leadbeater’s Possum recovery program grant
expired in June 2019.
In addition, VicForests provides goods and services to other Victorian Government
entities, primarily to the Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning
(DELWP) and the Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions (DJPR). Goods and
services are charged on a cost recovery basis and brought to account as work is
completed. (See Note 8.6 for detail).
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Note 2.4 Receivables
Notes

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

10,643

11,731

4,794

24,909

-

13

15,437

36,653

-

(44)

15,437

36,609

-

-

15,437

36,609

15,437

36,609

Contractual receivables
Trade receivables
Victorian Government entities

8.6

Other receivables
Sub-total
Allowance for impaired receivables

7.1.3

Net contractual receivables

Net statutory receivables
Total receivables
Represented by
Current

Receivables comprise contractual receivables and statutory receivables.
Contractual receivables comprise:
•

Trade receivables originating from the sale of forest products and other goods and
services which were billed and unpaid at reporting date;

•

Accrued interest income receivable as at reporting date; and

•

Other receivables being amounts to be recovered from employees by way of
payroll deductions in respect of novated motor vehicle lease payments, public
transport ticketing and purchased leave.

Contractual receivables are recognised initially at fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less an
allowance for impaired receivables.
A range of trading terms are in place but do not normally exceed thirty days from date
of invoice rendered. Special trading terms have been granted to selected customers in
line with VicForests’ Customer Credit Policy. VicForests trading terms allow for interest
to be charged on unpaid amounts that are not settled within normal trading terms. The
interest rate is the current rate prescribed as per the Penalty Interest Rate Act 1983 or
otherwise agreed. No interest is receivable on amounts due from Victorian Government
entities.
Contractual receivables are classified as financial instruments as they arise from a
contract. (See Note 7.1). The carrying value of contractual receivables is equal to the
fair value due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.
Statutory receivables comprise fuel tax credits recoverable from the ATO. Statutory
receivables are not classified as financial instruments as they do not arise from a
contract.
Credit quality of contractual receivables
See Note 7.1.3 - Credit risk.
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Note 3

The cost of delivering services
Introduction
This section provides an account of the operating expenses incurred by VicForests in
delivering services and outputs and certain assets and liabilities associated with those
expenses. In section 2, the funds that enable the delivery of our services were disclosed and
in this note the operating costs associated with the delivery of those services are provided.
Structure
This section includes:
•

Note 3.1		

Summary of expenses incurred in the delivery of services

•

Note 3.2 		

Production expenses

•

Note 3.3 		

Employee benefits expense

•

Note 3.4 		

Roading expenses

•

Note 3.5		

Other operating expenses

•

Note 3.6 		

Taxation

•

Note 3.7		

Payables

•

Note 3.8 		

Other provisions

•

Note 3.9 		

Inventories

Note 3.1 Summary of expenses incurred in the delivery of services

Notes

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Production expenses

3.2

65,387

71,973

Employee benefits expense

3.3

17,688

16,230

Roading expenses

3.4

7,413

6,154

Other operating expenses

3.5

9,757

11,069

100,245

105,426

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Harvesting

29,457

34,461

Haulage

30,780

34,352

Third party log purchases

1,912

1,915

Other

3,238

1,245

65,387

71,973

Total expenses incurred in the delivery of services

Note 3.2 Production expenses

Total production expenses
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Production expenses comprise costs primarily incurred with external contractors,
contracted to harvest standing timber and haul the resultant logs to the point-of-sale,
normally the buyer’s facility.
Third party log purchases represent the cost of purchasing timber from an external
party for delivery to VicForests’ customers.

Note 3.3 Employee benefits expense
Note 3.3.1 Employee benefits expense in the comprehensive operating statement
Notes
Salaries
Leave entitlements (annual leave and long
service leave)
Superannuation expense
Termination benefits
Employment related taxes and levies
Total employee benefits expense

3.3.3

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

13,752

12,328

1,407

1,555

1,480

1,473

68

-

981

874

17,688

16,230

Employee benefits expense comprises:
•

all direct costs related to employment including salaries, leave entitlements,
payment of termination benefits (if any) and ex-gratia expenses (if any);

•

Directors’ fees and committee fees;

•

superannuation; and

•

employment related taxes and levies including payroll tax, fringe benefits tax and
WorkCover insurance levies.

In respect of superannuation, the amount recognised in the comprehensive operating
statement is the employer contributions for members of both defined benefit and
defined contribution superannuation plans that are paid or payable in the reporting
period. VicForests does not recognise any defined benefit liabilities because it has no
legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its
only obligation is to pay superannuation contributions as they fall due. Instead, the
Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF) discloses in its annual financial statements
the net defined benefit cost related to the members of these plans as an administered
liability (on behalf of the State as the sponsoring employer). Refer to the DTF’s annual
financial statements for more detailed disclosures in relation to these plans.
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before normal
retirement date, or when an employee accepts an offer of benefits in exchange for the
termination of employment. Termination benefits are recognised in the comprehensive
operating statement when VicForests is committed to terminating the employment of
current employees without the possibility of withdrawal.
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Note 3.3.2 Employee benefits provisions in the balance sheet
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

398

32

90

202

Current provisions
Employee benefits
Accrued salaries, unused purchased leave and paid
parental leave
Performance bonus provision
Annual leave
•

unconditional and expected to settle within 12
months

908

837

•

unconditional and expected to settle after 12
months (i)

210

137

262

206

2,545

2,548

4,413

3,962

Long service leave
•

unconditional and expected to settle within 12
months

•

unconditional and expected to settle after 12
months (i)

Total employee benefits
Employee benefits on-costs
•

unconditional and expected to settle within 12
months

166

145

•

unconditional and expected to settle after 12
months (i)

414

408

580

553

4,993

4,515

389

275

59

42

448

317

5,441

4,832

Total employee benefits on-costs
Total current employee benefits and on-costs

Non-current provisions
Employee benefits (i)
Employee benefits on-costs
Total non-current employee benefits and on-costs
Total employee benefits provisions
Note (i): Amounts are measured at present values.

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of salaries, purchased
leave and parental leave, executive officer performance bonuses, annual leave,
long service leave and salary increases rendered. VicForests has made a number
of assumptions for employee benefit provisions regarding likely tenure of existing
employees, patterns of leave claims and future salary movements. A further
assumption is required in respect of discount rates, which are independently calculated
and supplied by the DTF.
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Employee benefits provisions at reporting date are as follows:
•

Executive officer performance bonuses
Performance payments for VicForests executive officers are provided for under
their contract(s) of employment. A liability is recognised and is measured as
the aggregate of the amounts accrued under the terms of the contracts to the
reporting date.

•

Annual leave
Liabilities for annual leave are recognised in the provision for employee benefits
as ‘current liabilities’ because VicForests does not have an unconditional right to
defer settlements of these liabilities.
Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for annual
leave are measured at:

•

•

nominal value - if VicForests expects to settle wholly within 12 months; or

•

present value - if VicForests does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Long service leave (LSL)
A liability for LSL is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.
Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current
liability, even where VicForests does not expect to settle the liability within 12
months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of
the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months.
The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:
•

ominal value - if VicForests expects to settle wholly within 12 months; or

•

present value - if VicForests does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional
right to defer the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed
the requisite years of service. This non-current LSL liability is measured at present
value.
Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL
liability is recognised in the ‘Profit after income tax’, except to the extent that a
gain or loss arises due to change in bond rates for which it is then recognised in the
net result as an other economic flow. (See Note 8.2).
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On-costs such as payroll tax, superannuation and WorkCover insurance levies are
recognised separately from the provision for employee benefit.
Reconciliation of movement in employee benefits on-cost provision

Balance at beginning of year

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

595

527

(147)

(146)

(16)

(19)

207

233

44

68

639

595

580

553

59

42

Movements:
Reductions arising from payments/other sacrifices of
future economic benefits
Reductions resulting from re-measurement or
settlement without cost
Additional provisions recognised
Net movement
Balance at end of year
Represented by
Current employee benefits on-cost provision
Non-current employee benefits on-cost provision

Note 3.3.3 Superannuation contributions
Paid contributions
for the year

Contributions
outstanding
at year end

2020

2019

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

VicSuper

991

633

-

183

Other

619

457

-

87

1,610

1,090

-

270

140

110

-

-

-

3

-

-

140

113

-

-

1,750

1,203

-

270

Fund
Defined contribution plans

Sub-total
Defined benefit plans
Emergency Services
Superannuation (New
Scheme)
Emergency Services
Superannuation (Revised
Scheme)
Sub-total
Total

Employees (including Directors) of VicForests are entitled to receive superannuation
benefits and VicForests contributes to both defined benefit and defined contribution
plans. The defined benefit plan(s) provides benefits based on years of service and final
average salary.
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Note 3.4 Roading expenses
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Road maintenance

5,318

3,745

Timber haulage toll

2,095

2,409

7,413

6,154

Total roading expenses

The DELWP owns the forest road network (FRN) within the Victorian state forests
from which VicForests harvests timber. VicForests’ roading expenses relate to the
costs VicForests is incurring in order to be able to utilise this network for the haulage
of timber. This is undertaken by means of an agreement with the DELWP whereby
VicForests is able to determine, manage and fund maintenance, and fund occasional
and additional works associated with timber haulage on the FRN (i).
Note (i): Additional works are normally long-term improvements VicForests has made
to the DELWP FRN which are recognised as separate assets owned by VicForests. (See
Note 4.4).
Under the agreement all roads within the FRN are agreed by the parties to be part of
the timber haulage network (THN) or not. Those roads comprising the THN are then
categorised into two parts: non-tolled or tolled.
•

Road maintenance
In respect of the non-tolled roads VicForests is primarily responsible for the
maintenance, occasional and additional works undertaken within the DELWP
timber haulage network (THN), in order to enable haulage of forest products over
the THN. VicForests engages external contractors to undertake these works, with
the maintenance costs being expensed as incurred.
VicForests also expenses the cost of constructing, maintaining and ultimately
rehabilitating temporary access roads specifically constructed for the purpose of
connecting roads on the THN to timber harvesting areas.

•

DELWP Timber haulage toll
Timber haulage tolls are payable to the DELWP on the tolled roads within the THN.
The toll amount is calculated in order to ensure that the DELWP receive sufficient
funds to cover the full and true costs of delivering an agreed maintenance program
in order to enable VicForests haulage of forest products over these tolled roads.
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Note 3.5 Other operating expenses
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Motor vehicle expenses

1,221

1,775

Information and communications technology
(ICT)

1,120

1,109

928

1,335

Legal

2,374

3,612

Contractors

2,132

1,460

497

415

149

115

Insurance

383

373

Other operational and administrative expenses

953

875

9,757

11,069

Notes

Facilities

Audit
Internal and other
Financial

Total other operating expenses

8.5

Other operating expenses generally represent day-to-day running costs incurred in
normal operations and are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which
they are incurred.

Note 3.6 Taxation
VicForests is subject to the National Tax Equivalent Regime (NTER), which is
administered by the ATO. In accordance with this legislation, VicForests is required
to pay to the Victorian Government Consolidated Fund amounts determined to be
equivalent to the amounts that would be payable by VicForests to the Australian
Government if it were subject to the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 (Cth) and
Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (Cth).
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable or receivable on
the current period’s taxable income, based on the applicable Australian tax rate of
30% (30 June 2019: 30%), adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities,
attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the
tax rates expected to apply when the assets are recovered, or liabilities are settled,
based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantially enacted. The relevant
tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary
differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability (30 June 2020: 30%, 30 June
2019: 30%).
No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary
differences if they arose in a transaction that is not a business combination and that
at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit
or loss. Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and
unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to
utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Current and deferred tax is recognised in the comprehensive operating statement.
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Note 3.6.1 Income tax expense in the comprehensive operating statement
The income tax expense for the financial year differs from the amount calculated on
the net result. The differences are reconciled as follows:
Components of income tax expense
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Deferred tax relating to temporary differences

(3,382)

506

Income tax (benefit)/expense

(3,382)

506

Notes

Deferred income tax expense included in
income tax expense comprises:
(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax asset

3.6.2

(2,132)

101

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability

3.6.2

(1,250)

405

(3,382)

506

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Net result from operations before income tax
expense

(1,585)

4,081

Tax at the applicable Australian tax rate of
30% (2019: 30%)

(476)

1,224

3

4

(110)

(236)

(583)

992

13

(11)

(2,519)

(114)

(196)

(257)

(20)

(104)

2

-

(79)

-

Total income tax (benefit) on other
economic flows for the year

(2,799)

(486)

Total income tax expense/(benefit)

(3,382)

506

Reconciliation of prima facie tax payable to income tax expense

Tax effect of amounts non-deductible/taxable
for income tax purposes:
Non-deductible expenses
Research and development tax offsets
utilised
Income tax expense/(benefit) on operating
result
Income tax expense/(benefit) relating to other
economic flows for the year at the applicable
Australian tax rate of 30% (2019: 30%):
Tax expense/(benefit) on movement in
allowance for impaired receivables
Tax (benefit) upon revaluation of
biological assets
Tax (benefit) on write down of inventory
Tax (benefit) upon revaluation of long
service leave
Tax expense upon revaluation of annual
leave
Tax (benefit) on disposal of non-financial
physical and intangible assets
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Note 3.6.2 Tax assets and liabilities in the balance sheet
Current tax asset/(liability)
No income tax payments/(receipts) have been made/(received) during the year ended
30 June 2020 (2019: $Nil).
Deferred tax asset
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

(44)

38

Community forestry grant

(226)

(678)

Lease liabilities

1,662

-

Employee benefits

231

529

Accrued audit fees

87

(11)

Other accrued expenses

(7)

300

5,034

-

Utilisation of prior year tax losses

-

(749)

Current year research and development tax
offsets utilised

-

164

368

72

7,105

(335)

2,132

(101)

2,132

(101)

2,459

2,560

511

52

1,511

-

Utilisation of prior year tax losses

-

(225)

Current year research and development tax
offsets utilised

-

50

110

22

Net movement

2,132

(101)

Balance at end of year

4,591

2,459

Employee benefits

1,513

1,444

Tax losses carried forward

1,510

-

Notes
Movement in amounts recognised in
comprehensive operating statement
Allowance for impaired receivables

Current year tax loss

Amount under provided in prior year relating to
research and development tax offsets
Sub-total
Multiply by 30% tax rate
Total deferred tax asset movement

3.6.1

Movements during the year
Balance at beginning of year
Debited to the comprehensive operating
statement
Current year tax loss

Amount under provided in prior year relating to
research and development tax offsets

The balance comprises temporary differences
attributable to:
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Research and development tax offsets

919

808

Lease liabilities

499

-

-

68

150

126

-

13

4,591

2,459

Community forestry grant
Accrued expenses
Doubtful contractual receivables
Balance at end of year
Deferred tax liability

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

(6,550)

(6,145)

Regeneration and amortisation in relation to
biological assets

1,518

(667)

Other depreciating assets

(268)

262

1,250

(405)

(5,300)

(6,550)

(4,785)

(6,303)

(515)

(247)

(5,300)

(6,550)

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Deferred tax asset

4,591

2,459

Total tax assets

4,591

2,459

Deferred tax liability

(5,300)

(6,550)

Total tax liabilities

(5,300)

(6,550)

(709)

(4,091)

Notes
Movements during the year
Balance at beginning of year

Net movement
Balance at end of year

3.6.1

The balance comprises temporary differences
attributable to:
Biological assets
Other depreciating assets
Balance at end of year
Net tax assets/(liabilities)

The balance comprises:

Net tax liability
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Note 3.7 Payables

Notes

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

8,042

7,808

277

1,865

8,319

9,673

189

1,449
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254

1,509

8,573

11,182

8,573

11,182

Contractual
Supplies and services (i)

7.1

Victorian Government entities (i)

7.1, 8.6

Total contractual payables
Statutory
Taxes (FBT, GST and PAYG) payable to the ATO
Payroll tax payable to the SRO
Total statutory payables
Total payables
Represented by
Current payables

Note (i): The average credit period is usually 30 days; however, this changed to 10 days during the
year ending 30 June 2020 due to the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. Credit terms of 30 days will
resume once the pandemic passes. No interest is generally paid on contractual payables. However,
interest may be payable at varying rates per annum if credit terms are exceeded. No interest is payable
on amounts due to Victorian Government entities for purchase of supplies and services.

Payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to VicForests prior to
reporting date and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured
at amortised cost and are not discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually
paid within 30 days of recognition.
Payables consist of contractual payables and statutory payables.
Contractual payables comprise:
•

Trade payables originating from the purchase of goods and services which
were billed and unpaid at reporting date, predominately being amounts due for
harvesting and haulage; and

•

Accrued payables whereby the goods or services have been received as at
reporting date, but not yet billed.

Contractual payables are classified as financial instruments. (See Note 7.1).
Statutory payables comprise Fringe benefits tax (FBT), GST payable and PAYG
withholding tax payable to the ATO and payroll tax payable to the Victorian State
Revenue Office (SRO). Statutory payables are not classified as financial instruments as
they do not arise from a contract.
Maturity analysis of contractual payables
See Note 7.1.4 - Liquidity risk.
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Note 3.8 Other provisions
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Provision for regeneration make-good

2,563

2,965

Total other provisions

2,563

2,965

1,813

2,305

750

660

Represented by
Current provisions
Non-current other provisions

Other provisions are recognised when VicForests has a present obligation, the future
sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be
measured reliably. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
Provision for regeneration make-good
At the conclusion of harvesting, VicForests is obligated, under the Sustainable Forests
(Timber) Act 2004 to regenerate the areas harvested. In order to recognise this
obligation, a provision is created based on all the current areas of forest for which
regeneration works are still to be completed at reporting date in accordance with
AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.
These areas are multiplied out at the expected cost per hectare of the remaining
works required in order to determine the amount of the provision required. An estimate
for restocking is built into the cost estimates to allow for remedial works where a crop
does not successfully regenerate to the required standard.
Assumptions relating to the amount or timing of any inflow/outflow to the provision for
regeneration make-good
The provision for regeneration make-good is dependent on a number of assumptions:
•

Seasonal weather conditions are consistent with long-term averages - weather
conditions impact seed collection and the type of regeneration activity following
harvesting;

•

The framework for conducting burning operations does not change significantly;

•

Resource sharing arrangements (people and equipment) with the DELWP continue;
and

•

The need to re-treat regenerated areas in any one year due to seed failure or other
event is consistent with long-term averages of 5-6%.

A change in any one of the assumptions would not materially affect the overall
provision for regeneration make-good.
If regeneration works do not occur or are carried over from one financial year to the
next, then the outflow to the provision for regeneration make-good will be smaller.
Due to the timing of the regeneration cycle not all remaining works can be undertaken
within 12 months, so the provision is divided between current and non-current. (Refer
table below).
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Reconciliation of movements in carrying amounts of other provisions
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

2,965

2,863

Reductions arising from payments/other sacrifices of
future economic benefits

(2,095)

(1,351)

Reductions resulting from re-measurement or
settlement without cost

(1,562)

(1,049)

3,255

2,502

Net movement

(402)

102

Balance at end of year

2,563

2,965

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

5,000

4,849

97

141

232

119

Logs in log storage facilities - at cost

1,099

-

Logs in log storage facilities - at net realisable value

2,070

3,859

Total inventories

8,498

8,968

8,498

8,968

Regeneration make-good
Balance at beginning of year
Movements:

Additional provisions recognised

Note 3.9 Inventories

Supplies and consumables
Seed - at cost
Regeneration materials - at cost
Roading materials - at cost

Inventories held for sale

Represented by
Current inventories
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Supplies and consumables held for future use
•

Seed
VicForests holds seed in order to regenerate harvested areas subsequent to
harvest. The seed inventory is valued at cost only which is assigned to seed stock
quantities on hand at reporting date on a weighted average cost basis. The cost
calculation is based on direct labour and materials used in the seed collection and
extraction processes.

•

Regeneration materials
Regeneration materials in inventory comprise materials that have been purchased
and stockpiled for use in the replanting of previously harvested areas. These
materials have been valued on a weighted average cost basis.

•

Roading materials
Roading materials in inventory comprise crushed gravel and culvert pipes that
have been purchased and stockpiled for use in the construction and maintenance
of forest roads, in order to facilitate the harvest and haulage of standing timber.
These materials have been valued on a weighted average cost basis.

•

Log stocks in transit yards
Inventories held for sale comprise log stocks stored in transit yards, harvested for
future sale. These logs are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value (NRV)
in accordance with well-established industry practice as allowed for by AASB 102
Inventories. Cost comprises the harvesting and haulage costs incurred to date plus
an allocation of management overheads incurred in getting the logs to the transit
yards. The NRV is based on the sales price for the particular destination for the
product, less the remaining haulage expense.

V I C FO R E STS A N N UA L R E PO R T 2 0 1 9 - 2 0

Note 4

Key assets available to support
output delivery
Introduction
VicForests controls productive trees in Victorian Government commercial native
forests and property, plant and equipment which are utilised in fulfilling its objectives
and conducting its activities. They represent the key resources that have been
entrusted to VicForests to be utilised for delivery of goods (predominantly forest
products) and services.
Significant judgement: Fair value measurement
Where the assets included in this section are carried at fair value, additional
information is disclosed in Note 7.3 in connection with how those fair values were
determined.
Structure
This section includes:
•

Note 4.1		

Depreciation and amortisation

•

Note 4.2		

Impairment

•

Note 4.3		

Biological assets

•

Note 4.4		

Property, plant and equipment

•

Note 4.5		

Right-of-use assets
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Note 4.1 Depreciation and amortisation

Notes

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Depreciation
Roads and bridges

4.4

867

1,223

Buildings

4.4

337

-

Leasehold improvements

4.4

220

216

Plant and equipment

4.4

233

199

Motor vehicles

4.4

584

-

2,241

1,638

1,967

2,038

176

98

Total amortisation expense

2,143

2,136

Total depreciation and amortisation expense

4,384

3,774

Total depreciation expense

Amortisation
Biological assets

4.3

Intangible assets

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the asset’s cost
or revalued amounts, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives (or in
the case of leasehold improvements, the lease term if shorter), commencing from the
time the asset is held ready for use, that is, when it is in the location and in a suitable
condition for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Where assets have separately identifiable components, those components are
assigned useful lives distinct from the item of plant and equipment to which they relate
and depreciated accordingly.
The asset residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at
each balance sheet date.
The following useful lives for the current asset classes are used in the calculation of
depreciation, and are consistent with the prior year unless otherwise noted:

Asset Class

Useful Life

Roads and permanent bridges

2-15 years

Buildings

Term of leases: 1-5 years

Leasehold improvements

Term of leases: 1-5 years

Plant and equipment
•

Computers and communication equipment

3 years

•

Fixtures and fittings, office equipment

10 years

•

Plant and equipment

4 years

•

Portable bailey bridges

20 years

Motor vehicles

Term of leases: 3-4 years
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Amortisation
•

Biological timber assets
As standing timber is harvested from areas subject to VicForests’ Allocation
Order, the biological timber asset is amortised at a rate per cubic metre of wood
harvested. The dollar rate per cubic metre is set so that the value of the estimated
volume of standing timber available for harvest within twelve months of reporting
date, is amortised in the forthcoming reporting period.

•

Intangible assets
All intangible assets that have finite useful lives are amortised using the straightline method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual values,
over their estimated useful lives, commencing from the time the asset is held
ready for use.

Note 4.2 Impairment
As per AASB 136 Impairment of Assets, VicForests assesses impairment of property,
plant and equipment and intangibles at each reporting date by evaluating conditions
specific to VicForests and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. These
include judgements in relation to obsolescence or physical damage, technology,
economic and political environments and future income expectations. If an
impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined.
At 30 June 2020 no impairment was identified for property, plant and equipment or
intangibles (2019: $Nil).

Note 4.3 Biological assets
2020

‘000 m3

1,224

1,064

‘000 m
Estimated volume of standing timber expected to be
harvested within twelve months

2019

3
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Reconciliation of movements in carrying amounts of biological assets

Notes

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

45,530

43,502

2,015

2,104

502

658

1,515

1,068

566

513

4,598

4,343

Native timber at fair value
Carrying amount at beginning of period
Increase due to capitalisation of regeneration
expenditure
External contractors
DELWP

8.6

Internal expenditure
Cost of seed consumed
Sub-total
Decrease due to harvest amortisation

4.1

(1,967)

(2,038)

Decrease due to fair value adjustment

8.2

(8,396)

(379)

Increase/(decrease) due to change in
provision for regeneration make-good

3.8

(402)

102

Net movement

(6,167)

2,028

Carrying amount at end of period - native
timber at fair value

39,363

45,530

77

-

Increase due to capitalisation of expenditure

518

77

Carrying amount at end of period plantation timber at cost

595

77

39,958

45,607

36,800

42,565

2,563

2,965

595

77

39,958

45,607

3,680

4,651

36,278

40,956

Plantation timber at cost
Carrying amount at beginning of period

Total carrying amount at end of period

Biological assets measured at fair value

7.3.1

Provision for regeneration make-good
measured at estimated cost

3.8

Biological assets measured at cost
Total biological assets
Represented by
Current biological assets
Non-current biological assets
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Productive trees in Victorian Government commercial native forests, vested to VicForests
through an Allocation Order pursuant to the Sustainable Forests (Timber) Act 2004, are
recognised as biological assets. These assets comprise the estimated standing timber
available for harvest in the next ten years (2019: eighty years), current (year 1) and noncurrent (subsequent years), stated in line with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement at fair
value, less costs necessary to get the assets to the market. The period changed from eighty
years to ten years in the year ending 30 June 2020 as a result of a change in Victorian
Government policy, with VicForests required to transition from native timber harvesting to
plantation timber harvesting by 30 June 2030.
The biological assets - native timber is revalued at 30 June each year and is measured at fair
value less costs to sell. (See Note 7.3.1).
The development of VicForests’ plantation timber program continues. Costs associated
with the program to 30 June 2020 are $594,622 (2019: $77,105). The biological assets plantation timber is not subject to revaluation under AASB 13 until such time as the timber
is available for sale. The asset is presently measured at cost.
Regeneration make-good - native timber
As disclosed in Note 3.8 above VicForests sets aside a liability provision for the expected
costs of regenerating harvested areas. A corresponding entry to the provision for
regeneration make-good liability is a make-good asset which forms part of the biological
assets’ cost base.
All regeneration expenses subsequently incurred in the following year’s regeneration
program (including the costs of those employees directly involved) are then added to the
capitalised regeneration asset which is also part of the biological assets.
That portion of the provision for regeneration make-good liability and equivalent makegood asset previously set aside for those areas is then reversed.

Note 4.4 Property, plant and equipment
Gross carrying
amount

Accumulated
depreciation

Net carrying
amount

2020

2019

2020

2019

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

5,879

6,838

(2,800)

(3,237)

3,079

3,601

711

-

(280)

-

431

-

Leasehold
improvements at fair
value

1,363

1,315

(1,154)

(934)

209

381

Plant and equipment
at fair value (i)

2,366

2,130

(1,721)

(1,588)

645

542

Motor vehicles at fair
value (i)

1,745

-

(550)

-

1,195

-

129

556

-

-

129

556

12,193

10,839

(6,505)

(5,759)

5,688

5,080

Roads and bridges at
fair value
Buildings at fair
value (i)

Assets under
construction at cost
Total property,
plant and
equipment
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Note (i): AASB 16 Leases has been applied for the first time from 1 July 2019.
Property, plant and equipment represents non-current physical assets comprising
roads and bridges, buildings, leasehold improvements, plant and equipment, motor
vehicles and assets under construction, used by VicForests in its operations. More
specifically:
•

Roads and permanent bridges primarily comprise long-term improvements that
VicForests has made to the DELWP timber haulage network (THN) in order to
allow improved economics of timber haulage. Also included are access roads that
VicForests has constructed from the THN to timber harvesting areas, to a nontemporary standard as VicForests intends to utilise these roads for terms exceeding
12 months.

•

Buildings comprises office premises leased from non-Victorian Government
entities.

•

Leasehold improvements comprise office alterations and fittings in offices leased
from the DELWP and non-Victorian Government entities and fittings in a seed
processing and storage facility leased from the DELWP.

•

Plant and equipment comprises communications equipment, computers, furniture,
office equipment, scientific equipment and other tools, and portable bailey
bridges.

•

Motor vehicles comprises vehicles leased from a non-Victorian Government entity.

Recognition and measurement of property, plant and equipment
Items with a cost or value in excess of $1,000 (2019: $1,000) (capitalisation threshold)
and a useful life of more than 1 year are recognised as assets. All items with a cost or
value less than $1,000 are expensed as acquired. Cost includes all expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to VicForests and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other subsequent costs are expensed as incurred.
Routine maintenance, repair costs and minor renewal costs are expensed as incurred.
Where the repair relates to the replacement of a component of an asset, the repair will
provide a future economic benefit, and the cost can be measured reliably, the cost is
capitalised and depreciated over the remaining life of the asset.
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(3)
5,080 (1,638)

-

-

759

5,962

-

5,962

2019

Total
net carrying
amount
2020
5,080
2,262
7,342
869
(12)
(270)
(2,241)
5,688

556

-

-

186

370

-

370

2019

Assets under
construction
at cost
2020
556
556
6
(433)
129

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2019

Motor
vehicles
at fair value
2020
1,662
1,662
129
(12)
(584)
1,195

(3)
(199)
542

-

-

128

616

-

616

2019

Plant and
equipment
at fair value
2020
542
8
550
331
(3)
(233)
645

(216)
381

-

-

-

597

-

597

2019

Leasehold
improvements
at fair value
2020
381
381
48
(220)
209

-

-

-

(337)
431

-

(1,223)

Closing
balance

3,601

-

-

-

-

-

-

2019

Buildings
at fair value
2020
592
592
176
-

(867)

-

2019
4,379
4,379
445
-

3,601
3,601

Depreciation

3,079

Disposals

-

Transfer in/
(out) of
assets under
construction

-

Modifications

-

Additions

179

Adjusted
balance at
1 July 2019

-

Recognition
of right-ofuse assets
on initial
application
of AASB 16 (i)

433

Opening
balance

(267)

$’000

2020

Roads and
bridges
at fair value

Reconciliation of movements in carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment

Note (i): These amounts represent the initial recognition of right-of-use assets recorded on the balance sheet on 1 July 2019
relating to operating leases. (See Note 6.3).

Fair value assessments have been performed for all classes of property, plant and
equipment, excepting assets under construction, and the decision was made that
movements were not material (less than or equal to 10 per cent) for a full revaluation.
The next scheduled full revaluation for property, plant and equipment will be
conducted in the year ending 30 June 2021.
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Note 4.5 Right-of-use assets
VicForests leases many assets including buildings, motor vehicles and plant and
equipment. Information about leases for which VicForests is a lessee is presented
below.
Note 4.5.1 Total right-of-use assets: buildings, motor vehicles and plant and
equipment
The following tables are subsets of buildings, motor vehicles and plant and equipment
by right-of-use assets.

$’000
Buildings
Motor vehicles

Gross
carrying
amount

Accumulated
depreciation

Net carrying
amount

2020

2020

2020

711

(280)

431

1,745

(550)

1,195

8

(2)

6

2,464

(832)

1,632

Plant and equipment
Net carrying amount

Buildings
$’000

Motor
Plant and
vehicles equipment

Total

2020

2020

2020

2020

Opening balance - 1 July 2019 (i)

592

1,662

8

2,262

Additions

176

129

-

305

-

(12)

-

(12)

(337)

(584)

(2)

(923)

431

1,195

6

1,632

Lease modifications
Depreciation and amortisation
Closing balance

Note (i): This balance represents the initial recognition of right-of-use assets recorded on the balance
sheet on 1 July 2019.
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VicForests recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease
commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for:
•

any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentive received; plus

•

any initial direct costs incurred; and

•

an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from
the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the rightof-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use
assets are determined on the same basis as those of property, plant and equipment. In
addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.
The table below describes the nature of VicForests’ leasing activities by type of rightof-use asset recognised on the balance sheet.

Right-of-use
asset
Buildings
Motor vehicles
Plant and
equipment

No. of assets
leased

Range of
remaining
term

No. of leases
with renewal
options

No. of leases
with termination
options

4

0.9 to 1.2 years

4

4

78

0.2 to 3.4 years

78

78

1

2.3 years

1

1
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Note 5

Other assets and liabilities
Introduction
This section details other assets and liabilities that arose from VicForests’ operations.
Structure
This section includes:
•

Note 5.1		

Dividend payable

•

Note 5.2		

Other liabilities

Note 5.1 Dividend payable
VicForests pays dividends in accordance with a determination of the Treasurer of
Victoria under the State Owned Enterprises Act 1992. The obligation to pay a dividend
arises after consultation between the VicForests’ Board of Directors, the Minister for
Agriculture and the Treasurer. Following this consultation process, the Treasurer makes
a formal determination. Dividends declared on or before reporting date but unpaid as
at reporting date are recognised as a liability.
At 30 June 2020, the Treasurer, in consultation with the Minister for Agriculture, has
made no determination in relation to a dividend payable for the year ending 30 June
2020 (2019: $Nil).

Note 5.2 Other liabilities
2020

2019

Notes

$’000

$’000

2.3

2,395

232

184

178

Lease liability (i)

-

101

Unearned income

3

31

37

1,679

2,619

2,221

2,619

2,157

-

64

Deferred Victorian Government grants
Haulage deductions

Other
Total other liabilities
Represented by
Current other liabilities
Non-current other liabilities

Note (i): The lease liability amount in 2019 represents accrued expenses recognised due to straightlining the expense over the period of the lease under AASB 117 Leases. As a result of implementing
AASB 16 Leases at 1 July 2019 this is now recognised as part of the lease liability related to the right-ofuse assets. (See Note 6.2).
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VicForests has recognised a deferred liability for certain Victorian Government grants
as follows:
•

$2,387,866 for farm forestry funding (for the 2020-21 financial year); and

•

$226,000 for community forestry (for the 2019-20 financial year).

The grants are recognised as and when VicForests undertakes its performance
obligations and all attached conditions are satisfied.
A deferred liability has also been recognised in respect of other haulage deductions.
These deductions are later released to other operating income once an equivalent
amount of expenditure is incurred in respect of haulage safety initiatives.
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Note 6

Financing our operations
Introduction
This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by VicForests
for its operations, along with interest expenses (the cost of borrowings) and other
information related to financing the activities of VicForests.
This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments (such
as borrowings and cash balances). Note 7.1 provides additional, specific financial
instrument disclosures.
Structure
This section includes:
•

Note 6.1		

Borrowings

•

Note 6.2		

Leases

•

Note 6.3		

Cash flow information and cash balances

•

Note 6.4		

Commitments for expenditure

•

Note 6.5		

Equity

Note 6.1 Borrowings
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Bank overdraft

-

49

Loan from the TCV (i)

-

5,593

1,660

-

1,660

5,642

Current borrowings

923

5,642

Non-current borrowings

737

-

Notes

Lease liabilities
Total borrowings

6.2

Represented by

Note (i): An unsecured variable interest loan with a weighted average interest rate of 1.415%.

Borrowings predominantly refer to interest bearing liabilities raised through the
Treasury Corporation of Victoria (TCV) and lease liabilities associated with right-ofuse assets recognised under AASB 16 Leases. Borrowings are classified as financial
instruments and are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.
Outstanding borrowings are recorded at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
Maturity analysis of borrowings
See Note 7.1.4.
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Defaults and breaches
During the current and prior year, there were no defaults and breaches of any of the
borrowings.

Note 6.2 Leases
VicForests leases various buildings, motor vehicles and plant and equipment. The lease
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1-5 years with an option to renew the
lease after that date. Lease payments for buildings are renegotiated every five years to
reflect market rentals.
VicForests has elected to not recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for
leases of plant and equipment where the contract terms are one year or less, or the
lease is of low value (less than $10,000).
At 30 June 2020, VicForests was committed to short term leases and the total
commitment at that date was $7,457 (excluding GST).
Note 6.2.1 Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are presented in Note 4.5.1.
Note 6.2.2 Amounts recognised in the comprehensive operating statement and cash
flow statement
The following amounts are recognised in the comprehensive operating statement
relating to leases:

Notes
Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

923

-

69

Expenses relating to short-term leases

2

-

994

-

Less than one year

967

-

One to five years

755

-

1,722

-

Current lease liabilities

923

-

Non-current lease liabilities

737

-

1,660

-

842

-

Total

Maturity analysis - undiscounted contractual
cash flows

Total

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

Total lease liabilities

6.1

Amounts recognised in the cash flow
statement
Cash outflow for leases
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Note 6.3 Cash flow information and cash balances

Cash at bank
Bank overdraft
Balance as per cash flow statement

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

9,805

-

-

(49)

9,805

(49)

Cash comprises cash held at an Australian bank. The carrying value of cash is equal to
the fair value due to its short-term maturity.
For cash flow statement presentation purposes cash includes a bank overdraft, which is
included as current borrowings on the balance sheet.
Reconciliation of net result for the year after income tax to net cash flows from
operating activities

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

(7,396)

1,953

4,384

3,774

(44)

38

8,396

379

651

856

Loss on revaluation of leave provisions

61

347

Loss on disposal of non-financial assets

69

1

59

-

21,216

(12,052)

(2,132)

101

Other non-financial assets

(110)

32

Inventories

(181)

451

402

(102)

(1,859)

2,025

(402)

102

545

180

(1,250)

405

398

1,048

22,807

(462)

Notes
Net result for the year after income tax
Non-cash movements:
Depreciation and amortisation

4.1

(Reversal of) allowance for impaired
receivables

7.1.3

Loss on revaluation of biological assets

4.3

Write down of inventory

Tax expense on derecognition of asset
revaluation reserve on disposal of asset

3.6.2

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Receivables
Tax assets

Biological assets - regeneration make-good
asset

3.6.2

3.8, 4.3

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Payables
Provisions - regeneration make-good

3.8

Provisions - other
Tax liabilities

3.6.2

Other liabilities

5.2

Net cash flows from operating activities
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Financing facilities
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

-

5,593

Amount unused

11,900

6,307

Total

11,900

11,900

Unsecured loan facility with the TCV, reviewed
annually and payable at call
Amount used

Note 6.4 Commitments for expenditure
Nominal Value
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

26,822

77,474

270

3,209

1,306

1,512

28,398

82,195

Motor vehicles

-

3,457

Office accommodation and parking

-

680

Plant and equipment

-

17

-

4,154

52

271

18

98

20

77

95

194

185

640

28,583

86,989

Notes
Production expense commitments
Harvest and haulage services
Third party log purchases
Other production expense commitments
Total production expense commitments

(i)

Operating lease commitments for
expenditure

Total operating lease commitments for
expenditure

8.8

Other commitments for expenditure
Other
Information technology
With related party
Other
Community sponsorship
Total other commitments for expenditure
Total commitments for expenditure

8.6

Note (i): At reporting date VicForests had 17 contracts in place with 14 external parties (2019: 46
contracts with 36 external parties) for the provision of future harvest, haulage, and log storage
management services and for the purchase of logs from a third party. Under these contracts
VicForests is committed to purchasing minimum quantities of the applicable service in each financial
year in order to meet future sales commitments, but not longer than 5 years. If the opportunity for
the minimum quantity is not provided VicForests may need to make compensation payments. The
commitment amounts noted above are based on the minimum quantities specified in the contracts.
Subsequent to 30 June 2020 a number of harvest and haulage contracts have been entered into with
various external parties. Refer to Note 8.1 Subsequent events for further information.
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Future commitments include operating and capital commitments arising from noncancellable contracts. These commitments are disclosed at their nominal value and
are inclusive of GST payable. These future commitments cease to be disclosed as
commitments once the related liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet. (See
Note 8.8).
Due to the adoption of AASB 16 Leases on 1 July 2019 the operating lease
commitments have been recorded on the balance sheet as lease liabilities for the year
ended 30 June 2020.
Nominal Value
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Less than 1 year

12,436

62,264

Longer than 1 year but not longer than 5 years

15,962

19,931

Total production expense commitments payable

28,398

82,195

Less than 1 year

-

1,521

Longer than 1 year but not longer than 5 years

-

2,633

Total operating lease commitments payable

-

4,154

185

502

-

138

185

640

Total commitments payable (inclusive of GST)

28,583

86,989

Less GST recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office

(2,598)

(7,908)

Total commitments payable (exclusive of GST)

25,985

79,081

Production expense commitments payable

Operating lease commitments payable

Other commitments payable
Less than 1 year
Longer than 1 year but not longer than 5 years
Total other commitments payable
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Note 6.5 Equity
Note 6.5.1 Contributions by owners
Contributed capital represents the Victorian Government’s investment in VicForests.
Consistent with applicable AAS and the Financial Management Act 1994, transfers and
appropriation for additions of net assets between VicForests and the State designated
as contributed capital, are recognised as capital transactions.
Note 6.5.2 Physical asset revaluation reserve
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Balance at beginning of year

2,645

2,645

Transfer to accumulated surplus on disposal of assets

(787)

-

Balance at end of year

1,858

2,645

Total physical asset revaluation reserve

1,858

2,645

Roads and bridges

Revaluations
Revaluation increments or decrements arise from differences between an asset’s
carrying value and fair value. Revaluation increments are credited directly to equity in
the physical asset revaluation reserve, net of applicable tax, except that, to the extent
that an increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of the same asset
previously recognised as an expense in determining the net result, the increment is
recognised as an other economic flow in determining the net result.
Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as an other economic flow in
the net result, except that, to the extent that a credit balance exists in the physical
asset revaluation reserve in respect of the same class of asset, they are debited to the
physical asset revaluation reserve, net of applicable tax.
VicForests’ non-financial physical assets are valued at fair value with any revaluation
increments or decrements to the values of the assets recognised in the physical asset
revaluation reserve, net of applicable income tax. (See Note 7.3.2).
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Note 7

Risks, contingencies and
valuation judgements
Introduction
VicForests is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is
often necessary to make judgements and estimates associated with recognition and
measurement of items in the financial statements. This section sets out financial
instrument specific information, including exposures to financial risk, as well as those
items which are contingent in nature or require a higher level of judgement to be
applied, which for VicForests relate mainly to fair value determination.
Structure
This section includes:
•

Note 7.1 		

Financial instruments specific disclosures

•

Note 7.2 		

Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and guarantees

•

Note 7.3 		

Fair value determination

Note 7.1 Financial instruments specific disclosures
Introduction
Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial
asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due
to the nature of VicForests’ activities, certain financial assets and liabilities arise under
statute rather than a contract (for example taxes, fines and penalties). Such financial
assets and liabilities do not meet the definition of financial instruments in AASB 132
Financial Instruments: Presentation.
Categories of financial assets
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if both of the following criteria are
met and the assets are not designated as fair value through net result:
•

the assets are held by VicForests to collect the contractual cash flows; and

•

the assets’ contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest.

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less any impairment.
VicForests recognises the following assets in this category:
•

cash and deposits; and

•

receivables (excluding statutory receivables).
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Categories of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised on the date they are
originated. They are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial instruments are
measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised
amount and the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the period
of the interest-bearing liability, using the effective interest rate method.
VicForests recognises the following liabilities in this category:
•

payables (excluding statutory payables);

•

borrowings; and

•

lease liabilities.

Derecognition of financial assets: A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:
•

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

•

VicForests retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed
an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a
‘pass through’ arrangement; or

•

VicForests has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either:
•

has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or

•

has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset but has transferred control of the asset.

Where VicForests has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards or transferred control, the asset is recognised to the extent of VicForests’
continuing involvement in the asset.
Derecognition of financial liabilities: A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised as an ‘other economic flow’ in the comprehensive
operating statement.

83

84

Financial statements

Note 7.1.1 Financial instruments: categorisation
Financial
Financial
assets at liabilities at
amortised
amortised
cost
cost

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

9,805

-

9,805

10,643

-

10,643

4,794

-

4,794

25,242

-

25,242

Supplies and services

-

8,042

8,042

Victorian Government entities

-

277

277

Lease liabilities

-

1,660

1,660

Total contractual financial liabilities (i)

-

9,979

9,979

Trade receivables

11,731

-

11,731

Victorian Government entities

24,909

-

24,909

13

-

13

36,653

-

36,653

Supplies and services

-

7,808

7,808

Other payables

-

1,865

1,865

Bank overdraft

-

49

49

Loan from the TCV

-

5,593

5,593

Total contractual financial liabilities (i)

-

15,315

15,315

2020
Contractual financial assets
Cash
Trade receivables
Victorian Government entities
Total contractual financial assets

Contractual financial liabilities
Payables:

Borrowings:

2019
Contractual financial assets

Other receivables
Total contractual financial assets (i)

Contractual financial liabilities
Payables:

Borrowings:

Note (i): The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from
Government for GST input tax credits and fuel tax credits, and for taxes payable).

Note 7.1.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies
The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage VicForests’
financial risks within the Victorian Government policy parameters. VicForests’ main
financial risk is credit risk.
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VicForests manages its financial risks in accordance with its risk management
framework. The Board of Directors of VicForests has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The risk management
framework seeks to minimise the potential adverse effects from risk on VicForests’
financial performance.
Under the framework VicForests’ management is responsible for identifying risks and
recording them in VicForests’ Risk Register. The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee
(a sub-committee of the Board) is responsible for grouping the risks and developing
and monitoring risk management instructions for each risk grouping. Instructions
developed to identify, analyse and manage financial risk include a Customer Credit
Instruction and a Treasury Management Instruction. These financial risk instructions
set appropriate risk limits and controls, and the mechanism for monitoring adherence
to the limits and controls. The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee oversees how senior
management monitors compliance with VicForests’ risk management instructions and
is assisted in this task by internal audit.
Note 7.1.3 Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the contractual financial assets of VicForests, which comprise
cash and deposits and non-statutory receivables. VicForests’ exposure to credit risk
arises from the potential default of a counterparty on their contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to VicForests. Credit risk is measured at fair value and is
monitored on a regular basis. VicForests does not engage in hedging for its contractual
financial assets.
The major exposure to credit risk arises from receivables which primarily consist of a
number of business and individual customers to which VicForests sells timber. Each
customer is subject to a credit assessment process before entering into sales contracts.
VicForests also registers a security interest under the Personal Property Securities Act
2009 (Cth) against various customers in order to protect its collateral (timber) until the
full purchase price is paid. All receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis
to ensure that exposure to bad debts is minimised. The collection of payments and
overdue receivables is managed within VicForests.
Provision for impairment of contractual financial assets is recognised when there is
objective evidence that VicForests will not be able to collect a receivable. Objective
evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments and debts that
are more than 90 days overdue.
Except as otherwise detailed in the following table, the carrying amount of contractual
financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses,
represents VicForests’ maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the
value of any collateral obtained.
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Credit quality of financial assets
Victorian
Financial
institutions Government
agencies
(triple-A
(triple-A
Other
credit
rating) credit rating) (un-rated)

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

9,805

-

-

9,805

-

4,793

10,644

15,437

9,805

4,793

10,644

25,242

Contractual receivables applying
the simplified approach for
impairment

-

24,909

11,744

36,653

Total contractual financial
asset s(i)

-

24,909

11,744

36,653

2020
Cash and deposits
Contractual receivables applying
the simplified approach for
impairment
Total contractual financial
assets (i)

2019

Note (i): The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from
Government for GST input tax credits and fuel tax credits, if any).

Impairment of financial assets under AASB 9
VicForests records the allowance for expected credit loss for the relevant financial
instruments applying AASB 9’s Expected Credit Loss approach. Subject to AASB 9,
VicForests has included contractual and statutory receivables in its impairment
assessment.
Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under AASB 9. Other financial assets
mandatorily measured or designated at fair value through net result are not subject
to impairment assessment under AASB 9. While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of AASB 9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.
Contractual receivables at amortised cost
VicForests applies AASB 9 simplified approach for all contractual receivables to
measure expected credit losses using a lifetime expected loss allowance based on
the assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. VicForests has grouped
contractual receivables on shared credit risk characteristics and days past due and
select the expected credit loss rate based on VicForests’ history, existing market
conditions, as well as forward looking estimates at the end of the financial year.
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On this basis, VicForests determines the opening loss allowance and the closing loss
allowance at the end of the financial year as follows:

Current

Less than
1 month

1-3
months

3 mths
- 1 year

1-5
years

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Expected loss
rate

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

Gross carrying
amount of
contractual
receivables

13,582

1,852

2

1

-

15,437

-

-

-

-

-

-

Expected loss
rate

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.72%

Gross carrying
amount of
contractual
receivables

28,417

692

1,016

386

6,142

36,653

-

-

-

-

44

44

2020

Loss allowance

2019

Loss allowance

Reconciliation of the movement in the loss allowance for contractual receivables

Balance at beginning of year
Increase in provision recognised in net result
Reversal of unused provision recognised in the net result
Balance at end of the year

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

(44)

(6)

-

(44)

44

6

-

(44)

Credit loss allowance is classified as other economic flows in the net result.
Contractual receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery and impairment losses are classified as a transaction expense. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item.
Statutory receivables at amortised cost
VicForests’ non-contractual receivables arising from statutory requirements are not
financial instruments. However, they are nevertheless recognised and measured in
accordance with AASB 9 requirements as if those receivables are financial instruments.
The statutory receivables are considered to have low credit risk, taking into account
the counterparty’s credit rating, risk of default and capacity to meet contractual cash
flow obligations in the near-term. As the result, the loss allowance recognised for these
financial assets during the period was limited to 12 months expected losses.
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Note 7.1.4 Liquidity risk
VicForests operates under the Victorian Government fair payments policy of settling
financial obligations within 30 days. Liquidity risk is the risk that VicForests would
be unable to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due. VicForests’
maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as
disclosed in the face of the Balance sheet. VicForests manages its liquidity risk by
maintaining and conducting efficient banking practices and account structures, sound
cash management practices and regular monitoring of the maturity profile of assets
and liabilities, together with anticipated cash flows.
VicForests, with the exception of a working capital account held with an Australian
bank, is required to invest and borrow exclusively with the TCV, as per the Victorian
Government Centralised Treasury and Investment Policy. The amounts of financial
accommodation that VicForests is able to obtain from the TCV is approved by the
Treasurer of Victoria on an annual basis pursuant to the Borrowing and Investment
Powers Act 1987. VicForests is unable to exceed the approval limits set by the Treasurer
of Victoria.
Maturity analysis of contractual financial liabilities
Carrying
amount

Nominal
amount

<1
month

1-3
months

3 mths
- 1 year

1-5
years

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Supplies and
services

8,042

8,042

7,863

176

2

1

Victorian
Government
entities

277

277

146

-

131

-

Lease
liabilities

1,660

1,660

78

156

690

736

Total

9,979

9,979

8,087

332

823

737

Supplies and
services

7,808

7,808

7,746

47

10

5

Victorian
Government
entities

1,865

1,865

1,599

266

-

-

49

49

49

-

-

-

Loan from the
TCV

5,593

5,593

5,593

-

-

-

Total

15,315

15,315

14,987

313

10

5

2020
Contractual
payables

Borrowings

2019
Contractual
payables

Borrowings
Bank overdraft
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Note 7.1.5 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the fair value or future
cash flows of financial instruments. Market risk comprises foreign exchange risk, and
interest rate risk. VicForests’ exposure to market risk is primarily through interest rate
risk; there is no material exposure to foreign exchange risk, and no material exposure
to other price risks. Objectives, policies and processes used to minimise these risks are
disclosed below:
Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. VicForests has
minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risks through cash at bank and on-call
deposits that are at floating rate. VicForests management has concluded that cash at
bank and the on-call deposits can be left at floating rate without necessarily exposing
VicForests to significant interest rate risk.
Interest may be applied to certain contractual receivables; the rate being per the
Penalty Interest Rate Act 1983. The rate has been fixed at 10% since 1 February 2017.
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to
interest rates and VicForests sensitivity to interest rate risk are set out in the table
below.

Weighted
average
interest
rate (%)
on interest
bearing
portion

Interest rate exposure

Carrying
amount

Fixed
interest
rate

Variable
interest
rate

Noninterest
bearing

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

0.50%

9,805

-

9,805

-

10.00%

15,437

155

-

15,282

25,242

155

9,805

15,282

8,042

-

-

8,042

277

-

-

277

1,660

1,660

-

-

9,979

1,660

-

8,319

2020
Financial assets
Cash and deposits
Contractual
receivables
Sale of goods and
services
Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Contractual payables
Supplies and
services
Victorian
Government entities
Borrowings
Lease liabilities
Total financial
liabilities

3.53%
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Weighted
average
interest
rate (%)
on interest
bearing
portion

Interest rate exposure

Carrying
amount

Fixed
interest
rate

Variable
interest
rate

Noninterest
bearing

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

36,596

1,555

-

35,041

Other receivables

13

-

-

13

Total financial assets

36,609

1,555

-

35,054

Supplies and
services

7,808

-

-

7,808

Victorian
Government entities

1,865

-

-

1,865

2.25%

49

-

49

-

1.415%

5,593

-

5,593

-

15,315

-

5,642

9,673

2019
Financial assets
Contractual
receivables
Sale of goods and
services

10.00%

Financial liabilities
Contractual payables

Borrowings
Bank overdraft
Loan from the TCV
Total financial
liabilities
Interest rate risk sensitivity
Interest rate risk sensitivity
Carrying
amount

-100 basis
points
Net result

+100 basis
points
Net result

$’000

$’000

$’000

Cash and deposits

9,805

(981)

981

Total impact

9,805

(981)

981

Borrowings

49

56

(56)

Total impact

49

56

(56)

2020

2019
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The above table summarises the sensitivity of VicForests’ financial assets and financial
liabilities to interest rate risk. It illustrates the impact on the net result of VicForests. A
100 basis points (1%) movement up (and down) in market interest rates on cash and
deposits has been used to show sensitivities to interest rates at both the reporting date
of 30 June 2020 and the comparative year of 30 June 2019.
Whilst the above sensitivity analysis was based on the reporting date balances, it needs
to be acknowledged that the deposit balances with the bank and the TCV fluctuate
within any month. The actual risk exposure could vary and might not exist for a whole
month or year. The above analysis is therefore considered to be realistic and confirms
that the market risk exposure is not material.

Note 7.2 Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and
guarantees
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet,
but are disclosed by way of a note and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value.
Contingent assets and liabilities are presented exclusive of GST receivable or payable
respectively.
Contingent assets
Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from past events, whose existence will
be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of VicForests.
These are classified as either quantifiable, where the potential economic benefit is
known, or non-quantifiable.
Quantifiable contingent assets: During the year ending 30 June 2015, the Supreme
Court ordered that MyEnvironment pay VicForests the sum of $1,235,500 for legal
costs following its unsuccessful litigation. This court order is valid for a period of 10
years. A balance of $1,205,500 remains unpaid as at 30 June 2020 and further legal
action would likely be required to recover this amount (2019: $1,205,500).
Non-quantifiable contingent assets: There were no non-quantifiable contingent
assets as at 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil).
Contingent liabilities and guarantees
Contingent liabilities are:
•

possible obligations that arise from past events, whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the entity; or

•

present obligations that arise from past events but are not recognised because:
•

it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligations; or

•

the amount of the obligations cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are also classified as either quantifiable or non-quantifiable.
Quantifiable contingent liabilities: During the year ending 30 June 2020 VicForests
did not enter into any new bank guarantees and continues to hold a bank guarantee
facility in favour of a third party for $56,430, and a bank guarantee facility in favour of
a Victorian Government entity for $10,000. VicForests has a potential obligation to pay
the bank in the event the guarantees are called upon by the favourees. The existence
of an obligation will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events.
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The bank guarantee amounts remaining as at 30 June 2020 were $66,430 (2019:
$66,430). See Note 8.6 for further details in relation to the bank guarantee facility in
favour of a Victorian Government entity.
Non-quantifiable contingent liabilities: There are a number of potential nonquantifiable contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020 arising from legal proceedings
before the Courts. A judgement was handed down against VicForests in May 2020 in
relation to one of these cases, the Friends of Leadbeater’s Possum Inc. v VicForests
(VID1228/2017) case. VicForests has subsequently appealed this case to the Full
Federal Court, with the outcome of the appeal process being unknown at the date of
this report. The outcomes in relation to the other cases are also unknown at the date
of this report. These contingent liabilities are therefore non-quantifiable.

Note 7.3 Fair value determination
Fair value determination requires judgement and the use of assumptions. This section
discloses the most significant assumptions used in determining fair values. Changes
to assumptions could have a material impact on the results and financial position of
VicForests.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date.
Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, VicForests determines the policies
and procedures for fair value measurement for financial reporting purposes for the
following assets and liabilities:
•

financial instruments;

•

biological assets; and

•

property, plant and equipment.

In addition, the fair values of other assets and liabilities that are carried at amortised
cost, also need to be determined for disclosure purposes.
Fair value hierarchy
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.
The levels are described below:
•

Level 1 - quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities;

•

Level 2 - valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and

•

Level 3 - valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is unobservable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, VicForests has determined classes of assets
and liabilities based on the nature, characteristics and risks of the assets or liability and
the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
In addition, VicForests determines whether transfers have occurred between levels
in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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Note 7.3.1 Fair value determination of biological assets - native timber
AASB 141 Agriculture determines fair value as the amount which could be expected to
be received from the disposal of the asset in an active and liquid market less the costs
expected to be incurred in realising the proceeds of such a disposal.
The fair value of a biological asset is based on its present location and condition. If
an active market exists for a biological asset in its present location and condition, the
quoted price in that market is the appropriate basis for determining the fair value of
that asset. Where access exists to different markets then the most relevant market is
referenced.
In the event that market determined prices or values are not available for a biological
asset in its present condition, the present value of the expected net cash flows from
the asset, discounted at a current market determined rate is utilised to determine fair
value. The expected net cash flows take into account the expected yield of the forest at
harvest, expected sale prices, and expected harvesting and haulage expenses to market
and incorporate possible variations in the net cash flows. (Compliant with AASB 141
Agriculture regeneration expenses are excluded).
Victorian Government policy in relation to harvesting of native timber in State forests
changed in November 2019 whereby harvesting would be gradually phased out by 2030.
As a result of this change VicForests engaged an independent expert to provide an
assessment of the fair value less costs to sell (FVLCTS) of its amended harvesting and
selling rights relating to its allocated timber resource.
The primary valuation methodology adopted by the independent expert was the income
approach (discounted cash flow analysis) rather than the market approach due to the
lack of an active and liquid native forest market providing low comparability for the basis
of a valuation. The cost approach was not considered due to the difficulty in estimating
the total historical cost or an appropriate replacement cost for native forests.
Under the income approach the FVLCTS of the biological asset is based on the present
value of the cash flows that the asset can be expected to generate in the future. The
expected cash flows take into account forecast harvest volumes, market process,
harvesting and haulage expenses to market, and any other costs intrinsically related to
the harvesting operation of the asset. The cash flows are then discounted at a discount
rate (the cost of capital) that reflects the time value of money and the risks associated
with the cash flows.
The income approach comprised the following core assumptions:
•

Revised areas available for harvesting under the 2019 Allocation Order;

•

A projected 10-year harvesting period remaining until 30 June 2030 (2019: 80-year
cycle);

•

Harvest volumes and yield projections decreasing over the remaining 10-year
harvest period (particularly in the financial years ended 30 June 2025 and 2026),
coupled with consideration of delivery obligations under agreements with customers
over the same period;

•

A more granular assessment of costs to sell, making sure only costs associated with
the biological asset were incorporated versus costs associated with community
operations;

•

Incorporating a contributory asset charge to recognise the contribution to cash
flows generated by other assets within VicForests such as plant and equipment and
working capital; and

•

Adopting a discount rate based on a real, post tax weighted average cost of capital
(WACC) cross-checked to the discount rate adopted by broadly comparable forestry
operators in valuing their biological assets. A real, post-tax discount rate of 6.00%
was used for the financial year ending 30 June 2020 (5.01% for 2019).
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It should be noted that in performing the valuation certain limitations were noted for
which it was not possible, with any certainty, to ascertain the effect on the valuation
of the biological asset, most notably the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic in terms
of how long the current situation may continue or in terms of its impact, potential or
actual, on operations.
The net increment/(decrement) to the fair value of the biological asset as a result of
applying the above core assumptions to the income approach valuation methodology
was recognised in the comprehensive operating statement as an other economic flow.
After harvest, logs are treated as inventories if stored in transit yards prior to sale.
Fair value measurement hierarchy of biological assets - native timber

Net carrying
amount

Fair value measurement at end of
reporting period using:
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

As at 30 June 2020

36,800

-

-

36,800

As at 30 June 2019

42,565

-

-

42,565

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value movements of biological assets - native timber
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

42,565

40,639

4.3

4,598

4,343

4.3

(1,967)

(2,038)

4.3

(8,396)

(379)

36,800

42,565

Notes
Balance at beginning of year
Purchases
Capitalisation of regeneration expenditure
Gains or losses recognised in net result
Amortisation
Gains or losses recognised in other economic
flows
Revaluation (i)
Balance at end of year

(ii)

Notes:
(i) A reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance of the revaluation amount
attributable to the change in unrealised gains and losses and the line item(s) in profit or loss in
which those unrealised gains or losses are recognised cannot be quantified and have therefore
not been disclosed.
(ii) For a full reconciliation of the above fair value balances at the end of the year to the total
carrying amounts of the biological assets at the end of the year refer Note 4.3.
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Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level 3 valuations of biological assets
- native timber
Significant
unobservable inputs

Range
(weighted
average)

Sensitivity ($’000)

2020
Biological (i)
assets

Native timber
available for
harvest period

6.70%

5-year increase would increase
fair value by $7,100
10-year increase would increase
fair value by $12,300

6.00%

5-year increase would increase
fair value by $7,700
10-year increase would increase
fair value by $13,500

5.30%

5-year increase would increase
fair value by $8,400
10-year increase would increase
fair value by $14,900

(ii) Discount rate
(real, post-tax)

6.70%

0.7% increase would decrease
fair value by $800

5.30%

0.7% decrease would increase
fair value by $1,000

N/A

N/A

6.01%

1% increase would decrease fair
value by $6,981

4.01%

1% decrease would increase fair
value by $9,752

2019
Biological (i)
assets

Native timber
available for
harvest period

(ii) Discount rate
(real, post-tax)

Note: The availability of native timber for harvesting was reduced from an 80-year cycle in 2019 (i.e.
assumed that VicForests’ harvesting rights would be exercised for the next 80 years) to 10 years in
2020 as a result of the change in Victorian Government policy, with VicForests required to transition
from native timber harvesting to plantation timber harvesting by 30 June 2030.
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Note 7.3.2 Fair value determination of property, plant and equipment
Fair value measurement hierarchy of property, plant and equipment
Net
carrying
amount

Fair value measurement at end of
reporting period using:
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

3,079

-

-

3,079

Buildings at fair value

431

-

-

431

Leasehold improvements at fair
value

209

-

-

209

Plant and equipment at fair value

645

-

-

645

Motor vehicles at fair value

1,195

-

-

1,195

Fair value total at end of year (i)

5,559

-

-

5,559

3,601

-

-

3,601

381

-

-

381

542

-

-

542

4,524

-

-

4,524

As at 30 June 2020
Roads and bridges at fair value

As at 30 June 2019
Roads and bridges at fair value
Leasehold improvements at fair
value
Plant and equipment at fair value
Fair value total at end of year

(i)

Note (i): Assets under construction (Refer Note 4.4) are excluded as they are measured at cost.

There have been no transfers between levels for the property, plant and equipment
during the period.
Valuation of property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment are recognised initially at cost and subsequently
revalued at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment in accordance
with the requirements of FRD 103H Non-Financial Physical Assets. This revaluation
process occurs every 5 years, based upon the asset’s classification under the Victorian
Government Purpose Classification, but may occur more frequently if fair value
assessments indicate material changes in values.
Revaluations are conducted either independently (as required under FRD 103H)
or using management expertise and classified as a management revaluation. Any
accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross
carrying value of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of
the asset.
In accordance with FRD 103H an independent revaluation of VicForests roads and
permanent bridges was performed by the Valuer-General Victoria as at 30 June 2016.
The revaluation exercise for all other asset classes was undertaken as at 30 June 2018
by management. Management has determined that a revaluation exercise for all other
assets is not required as fair value and cost are considered to approximate each other.
There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2020.
For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best
use.
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•

Roads and bridges
Roads and bridges are valued at fair value using the depreciated replacement
cost method (DRC). The DRC method has been used as the improvements are of
a specialised nature, and there is no active and liquid market as the asset is rarely
sold. This cost generally represents the replacement cost of the improvements to
a modern equivalent standard in order to replace the service capacity of an asset
after applying depreciation rates on a useful life basis.
An independent valuation of VicForests roads and bridges was last performed by
the Valuer-General Victoria in 2016. The valuation was performed based on the
depreciated replacement cost of the assets. The effective date of the valuation was
30 June 2016.

•

Buildings and motor vehicles
Buildings and motor vehicles are recognised as a result of adopting AASB 16 Leases
on 1 July 2019 and are valued using the current replacement cost method.
VicForests acquires, uses and depreciates these right-of-use assets solely for their
service potential and not to generate profits from their resale. The depreciation
rate used reflects the lease term. The assets are returned to the lessor at the
expiration of the lease term

•

Plant and equipment and leasehold improvements
Management has determined the fair value of plant and equipment and leasehold
improvements on the basis that the depreciated written down value of these assets
approximates their fair value. VicForests acquires, uses and depreciates these
assets solely for their service potential and not to generate profits from their resale.
The main assumptions applied were as follows:
•

effective life of the assets is accurate (reviewed annually); and

•

asset utilisation remains unchanged (enables VicForests to perform its normal
day to day operations).
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Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value of property, plant and equipment
Roads
and
Leasehold
Plant and
bridges Buildings improvements equipment

Motor
vehicles

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

3,601

-

381

542

-

Recognition of right-of-use
assets on initial application
of AASB 16(ii)

-

592

-

8

1,662

Adjusted balance at 1 July
2019

3,601

592

381

550

1,662

179

176

48

331

129

-

-

-

-

(12)

433

-

-

-

-

(197)

-

-

-

-

415

176

48

331

117

(867)

(337)

(220)

(233)

(584)

(70)

-

-

(3)

-

Sub-total

(937)

(337)

(220)

(236)

(584)

Balance at end of year

3,079

431

209

645

1,195

2020
Balance at beginning of
year

Purchases
Right-of-use asset
modifications
Transfers in/(out) of assets
under construction
Derecognition of asset
revaluation reserve on
disposal of non-financial
physical assets
Sub-total
Gains or (losses) recognised
in the operating result
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of nonfinancial physical assets

Roads and
Leasehold
bridges improvements

Plant and
equipment

$’000

$’000

$’000

4,379

597

616

Purchases

445

-

128

Sub-total

445

-

128

(1,223)

(216)

(199)

-

-

(3)

(1,223)

(216)

(202)

3,601

381

542

2019
Balance at beginning of year

Gains or (losses) recognised in the operating
result
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of non-financial physical
and intangible assets
Sub-total
Balance at end of year
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Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level 3 valuations of property, plant
and equipment
Significant changes in the cost per unit or the useful life of the property, plant and
equipment would have a significant effect on the fair value measurement of the asset.

2020

Valuation
technique

Significant
Range and
unobservable inputs (weighted average)

Roads and
bridges

Current
Cost per unit
replacement cost
Useful life of roads
and bridges

Buildings

$30,569-$266,911 per
unit ($107,664 per unit)

Useful life of
buildings

0.8-1.2 years (1.2 years)

Useful life
of leasehold
improvements
Current
Cost per unit
replacement cost
Useful life of plant
and equipment
Motor vehicles Current
Cost per unit
replacement cost
Useful life of plant
and equipment

2019

Valuation
technique

Roads and
bridges

Current
Cost per unit
replacement cost

$0-$121,885 per unit
($19,013 per unit)
0-10 years (3.2 years)

$0-$108,164 per unit
($946 per unit)
0-17 years (6.7 years)
$1,200-$25,041 per unit
($15,330 per unit)
0.2-3.4 years (2.3 years)

Significant
Range and
unobservable inputs (weighted average)

Useful life of roads
and bridges
Leasehold
Current
Cost per unit
improvements replacement cost
Useful life
of leasehold
improvements
Plant and
equipment

0-8 years (5.5 years)

Current
Cost per unit
replacement cost

Leasehold
Current
Cost per unit
improvements replacement cost

Plant and
equipment

$0-$417,011 per unit
($55,995 per unit)

Current
Cost per unit
replacement cost
Useful life of plant
and equipment

$0-$418,211 per unit
($59,024 per unit)
0-9 years (5.9 years)
$0-$219,027 per unit
($47,662 per unit)
0-4 years (2.0 years)

$0-$114,528 per unit
($917 per unit)
0-18 years (7.9 years)
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Note 8

Significant unobservable inputs
remain unchanged since June
2019.Other disclosures
Introduction
Other disclosures comprise additional material required by accounting standards or
otherwise, for the understanding of this financial report.
Structure
This section includes:
•

Note 8.1		

Subsequent events

•

Note 8.2		

Other economic flows included in net result

•

Note 8.3		

Remuneration of executives and payments to other personnel

•

Note 8.4		

Responsible persons

•

Note 8.5		

Remuneration of auditors

•

Note 8.6		

Related parties

•

Note 8.7		

Ex-gratia expenses

•

Note 8.8		

Change in accounting policies and disclosures

•

Note 8.9		
			

New accounting standards and interpretations applicable but
not yet effective

Note 8.1 Subsequent events
Assets, liabilities, income or expenses arise from past transactions or other past events.
Where the transactions result from an agreement between VicForests and other
parties, the transactions are only recognised when the agreement is irrevocable at or
before the end of the reporting period.
Adjustments are made to amounts recognised in the financial statements for events
which occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the financial
statements are authorised for issue, where those events provide information about
conditions which existed at reporting date. Note disclosure is made about events
between the end of the reporting period and the date the financial statements are
authorised for issue where the events relate to conditions which arose after the end of
the reporting period that are considered to be of material interest.
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Subsequent to 30 June 2020 VicForests:
•

Finalised 26 harvest and haulage agreements with 26 contractors. These
agreements commit VicForests to harvest and haulage expenditure of $135.8
million (excluding GST) through to 30 June 2024; and

•

Obtained approval from the Treasurer on 16 September 2020 to secure a debt
facility with the TCV for up to $8.0 million to fund the establishment of a $10.0
million Victorian forest nursery in East Gippsland.

Other than these 2 matters no other matters and/or circumstances have arisen since
the end of the reporting period which significantly affect or may significantly affect
the operations of VicForests, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of
VicForests in future financial years.

Note 8.2 Other economic flows included in net result
Other economic flows are changes in the value of an asset or liability that arise from
changes in market re-measurements, and not as a result of transactions.
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

44

(38)

44

(38)

(8,396)

(379)

Write down of inventory

(652)

(856)

Loss on disposal of non-financial physical and
intangible assets

(266)

(1)

(9,314)

(1,236)

(68)

(347)

7

-

(61)

(347)

(9,331)

(1,621)

2,799

485

(6,532)

(1,136)

Notes
Gain/(loss) on financial instruments
Gain/(loss) on movement in provision for
doubtful contractual receivables

7.1.3

Total gain/(loss) on financial instruments

Loss on non-financial assets
Loss upon revaluation of biological assets

Total loss on non-financial assets

4.3

Other gain/(loss) from other economic flows
Loss upon revaluation of long service leave
provision
Gain upon revaluation of annual leave provision
Total other gain/(loss) from other economic
flows

Total other economic flows before income
tax
Income tax benefit relating to other economic
flows
Total other economic flows included in net
result after income tax
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Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows include the gains or losses from:
•

The unrealised gains and losses upon the revaluation and impairment of
contractual receivables to net recoverable amount;

•

The unrealised gains and losses upon the revaluation of the biological assets to fair
value;

•

The unrealised gains and losses upon the write down of inventory;

•

The unrealised gains and losses upon the revaluation of the present value of the
long service leave provision due to changes in the bond interest rates; and

•

Any realised gain or loss on the disposal of non-financial physical assets and
intangible assets is recognised on the disposal date and/or control passes to the
buyer.

Note 8.3 Remuneration of executives and payments to other
personnel
Remuneration of executives
The number of executive officers, other than ministers and accountable officers, and
their total remuneration during the reporting period are shown in the table below.
Total annualised employee equivalents are based on the time fraction worked over the
reporting period.
Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable
or provided by VicForests, in exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed in the
following categories:
•

Short-term employee benefits - include amounts such as salaries, paid
annual leave, sick leave and bonuses, as well as non-monetary benefits such as
allowances and free or subsidised goods or services.

•

Post-employment benefits - consists of superannuation entitlements.

•

Other long-term employee benefits - consists of long service leave provided.

•

Termination benefits - consists of payments in lieu of notice (if any).

•

Ex-gratia expenses - consists of additional termination benefits (if any).

Various factors affected total remuneration payable to executives in the 2019-20
financial year including the departure of two executive officers. This had an impact on
remuneration figures for the termination benefits category.
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2020

2019

Remuneration

$’000

$’000

Short-term employee benefits

1,306

1,109

119

91

Other long-term employee benefits

30

25

Termination benefits

68

-

1,523

1,225

7

7

6.01

4.99

Post-employment benefits

Total remuneration (i)
Total number of executives during the reporting period
Total annualised employee equivalents

(ii)

Notes:
(i) The total number of executive officers includes persons who meet the definition of Key
Management Personnel (KMP) of VicForests under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and are
also reported within the Related Parties note disclosure. (See Note 8.6).
(ii) Annualised employee equivalent is based on paid working hours of 38 ordinary hours per week
over the 52 weeks for a reporting period.

Remuneration of other personnel (i.e. contractors with significant management
responsibilities)
There were no contractors with significant management responsibilities during the
reporting period (2019: $Nil).

Note 8.4 Responsible persons
In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Assistant Treasurer, under
the Financial Management Act 1994, the following disclosures are made regarding
responsible persons for the reporting period.
Names
The persons who held the positions of Minister, Director and Accountable Officer in
VicForests at any time during the financial year were as follows:

Position

KMP Name

Date range

Minister for Agriculture

The Hon Jaclyn Symes

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Director, Chair

Michael Humphris

1 July 2019 to 18 October 2019

Director, Chair

Chris Lovell

19 November 2019 to 30 June 2020

Director, Deputy Chair

Therese Ryan

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Director

David Cochrane

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Director

Angeleen Jenkins

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Director

Chris Lovell

1 July 2019 to 18 November 2019

Director

Kim McGrath

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Director

Gregory Sword

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Accountable Officer,
Chief Executive Officer

Nathan Trushell

1 July 2019 to 8 November 2019

Accountable Officer,
Chief Executive Officer

Monique Dawson

21 October 2019 to 30 June 2020
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Remuneration
The Minister’s remuneration and allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and
Superannuation Act 1968 and is reported within the Department of Parliamentary
Services’ Financial Reports.
The Directors’ remuneration received or receivable in connection with the
management of VicForests during the reporting period was as follows:
Number of directors (i)
Income band ($)

2020

2019

$20,000 - $29,999

1

-

$40,000 - $49,999

5

6

$60,000 - $69,999

1

-

$70,000 - $79,999

-

1

Total numbers

7

7

$312,646

$330,734

Total amount ($)
Note:

(i) A former Accountable Officer, Nathan Trushell, resigned during the year ended 30 June 2020 and
was replaced by Monique Dawson. During the transition period remuneration was paid to two
persons in the capacity of Accountable Officer at the same time. The total remuneration received
or receivable by the Accountable Officers in connection with the management of VicForests
during the reporting period was in the range $350,000 - $359,999 (2019: $340,000 - $349,999).

Note 8.5 Remuneration of auditors
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

138

115

11

-

149

115

Victorian Auditor-General’s Office (VAGO)
Audit or review of the financial statements
Additional fees in relation to the prior year’s
financial statements
Total amount

Note 8.6 Related parties
VicForests is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria.
Related parties of VicForests include:
•

all cabinet ministers and their close family members;

•

all departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated
into the whole of state consolidated financial statements; and

•

all key management personnel and their close family members and personal
business interests (controlled entities, joint ventures and entities they have a
significant influence over).

VicForests entered into transactions with related parties for the purchase and sale of
various goods and services. These transactions were conducted on an arm’s length
basis and on normal commercial terms and conditions at market rates. They were
also all managed in line with VicForests’ Board of Directors Conflict of Interest Policy
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which provides a framework for actual, potential or perceived conflicts of directors on
the VicForests Board and the VicForests Managing Conflicts of Interest Instruction which
provides a framework for actual, potential or perceived conflicts of executives and other
employees of VicForests.
Significant related party transactions
VicForests booked significant income and expenses, associated receivables, payables and
borrowings and other assets/liabilities recognised with the following related parties:

2020

2019

Income

Receivables
at 30 June

Income

Receivables
at 30 June

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Department of Environment, Land,
Water and Planning (DELWP)

4,109

1,268

(3,476)

1,290

Department of Jobs, Precincts and
Regions (DJPR)

13,922

3,526

22,194

23,619

Total significant revenue and
receivables

18,031

4,794

18,718

24,909

Expenses

Payables
and
borrowings
at 30 June

Expenses

Payables
and
borrowings
at 30 June

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Centre for IT Excellence (CenITex)

(618)

(148)

(632)

(376)

Department of Environment, Land,
Water and Planning (DELWP)

(2,963)

(129)

(3,754)

(1,439)

(778)

(65)

(699)

(60)

(26)

-

(6)

(5,598)

(482)

-

(370)

-

(4,867)

(342)

(5,461)

(7,473)

Significant revenue and receivables

Significant expenses and payables

State Revenue Office (SRO)
Treasury Corporation of Victoria
(TCV)
Victorian Managed Insurance
Authority (VMIA)
Total significant expense,
payables and borrowings

Other assets/liabilities
recognised

Other assets/liabilities
recognised

$’000

$’000

Department of Environment, Land,
Water and Planning (DELWP)

(501)

(725)

Total significant other assets/
(liabilities) recognised

(501)

(725)

Significant other assets/(liabilities)
recognised
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Related party loss allowances on receivables expense and impaired receivables
No expense was recognised during the year ended 30 June 2020 in respect of loss
allowances on receivables due from related parties (2019: $Nil). In addition, there is no
allowance for impaired receivables relating to the amount of outstanding related party
receivable balances as at 30 June 2020 (2019: $Nil).
Commitments for expenditure and guarantees with related parties
Outstanding commitments for expenditure and guarantees at year end with related
parties, inclusive of GST, were as follows:

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Centre for IT Excellence (CenITex)

18

98

Total commitments for expenditure

18

98

Roads Corporation (VicRoads)

10

10

Total guarantees

10

10

Commitments for expenditure

Guarantees

Key management personnel (KMP)
AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures defines key management personnel (KMP) as those
persons with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the
activities of VicForests, directly or indirectly, i.e. those charged with decision making
responsibilities.
KMP of VicForests include the Portfolio Minister, members of the VicForests Board of
Directors and members of the VicForests Executive Team. KMP names and position
titles are as follows:
Position (i) (ii)

KMP Name

Date range

Minister for Agriculture

The Hon Jaclyn Symes

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Director, Chair

Michael Humphris

1 July 2019 to 18 October
2019

Director, Chair

Chris Lovell

19 November 2019 to 30 June
2020

Director, Deputy Chair

Therese Ryan

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Director

David Cochrane

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Director

Angeleen Jenkins

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Director

Chris Lovell

1 July 2019 to 18 November
2019

Director

Kim McGrath

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Director

Gregory Sword

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Accountable Officer,
Chief Executive Officer

Nathan Trushell

1 July 2019 to 8 November
2019
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Position (i) (ii)

KMP Name

Date range

Accountable Officer,
Chief Executive Officer

Monique Dawson

21 October 2019 to 30 June
2020

Executive Officer,
General Manager,
Transformation

Anne Geary

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Executive Officer,
General Manager,
People, Safety and Culture

Jason Hellyer

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Executive Officer,
General Manager,
Corporate Affairs

Alex Messina

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Executive Officer,
General Counsel

Natalie Naylor

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Executive Officer,
General Manager,
Operations

Deon Kriek

28 October 2019 to 30 June
2020

Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer

Bronwyn Wellings

1 July 2019 to 20 December
2019

Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer

Darryn Kamp

16 December 2019 to 30 June
2020

Notes:
(i) Deon Kriek was appointed as Acting General Manager, Operations from 6 May 2019 to 27 October 2019.
He was formally appointed to the role on 28 October 2019. His remuneration for the period whilst he was
Acting General Manager, Operations is not disclosed in the compensation of KMPs below as he was not a
person to whom the Victorian Government’s policy on executive remuneration in public entities applied
at that time.
(ii) Bruce McTavish was appointed as Acting General Manager, Resources and Business Development for
a 12-month period commencing 2 December 2019, replacing Anne Geary who was seconded to the
General Manager, Transformation position for the same 12-month period. In accordance with FRD 21C
Bruce McTavish’s remuneration is not disclosed in the compensation of KMPs below as he is acting on a
temporary basis in an executive role, whilst the substantive executive officer is on an internal secondment.

The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Minister
receives. The Minister’s remuneration and allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and
Superannuation Act 1968 and is reported within the Department of Parliamentary Services’
Financial Reports.
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2020

2019

$’000

$’000

1,920

1,729

168

141

Other long-term employee benefits

39

33

Termination benefits

68

-

-

-

2,195

1,903

Compensation of KMPs
Short-term employee benefits (i)
Post-employment benefits

(i)

Ex-gratia expenses
Total compensation (i) (ii)
Notes:

(i) Directors’ remuneration has been reported under short-term employee benefits and the
superannuation thereon under post-employment benefits. (See Note 8.4).
(ii) KMPs, including Accountable Officers, are also reported in the disclosure of remuneration of
Responsible persons. (See Note 8.4) and Executive officers. (See Note 8.3).

Transactions and balances with KMP and other related parties
Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact
with the Victorian public sector in a manner consistent with other members of the
public, e.g. stamp duty and other government fees and charges. Further employment of
processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and conditions consistent
with the Public Administration Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and Standards
issued by the Victorian Public Sector Commission. Procurement processes occur on
terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government Procurement Board
requirements.
Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Victorian public sector, the
following related party transactions, exclusive of GST, that involved KMPs were
incurred:
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Therese Ryan, Director was a director of the Victorian Managed
Insurance Authority (i) from whom VicForests has insurance cover

-

(50)

Chris Lovell, Director is a director of the Victorian Managed
Insurance Authority (ii) from whom VicForests has insurance cover

(478)

(15)

(2)

(7)

(20)

(20)

(500)

(92)

Transactions with KMP related parties

Nathan Trushell, Chief Executive Officer was a director of
Australian Forestry Standard Limited (iii) to which VicForests paid
membership fees
Anne Geary, Executive Officer is a director of Wood Products
Victoria Ltd to which VicForests paid membership levies
Total transactions with KMP related parties
Notes:

(i) Therese Ryan retired as a director of the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority on 21 August
2018: the 2019 insurance cover amount therefore represents the insurance cover amount for the
period 1 July 2018 to 21 August 2018.
(ii) Chris Lovell became a director of the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority on 18 June 2019: the
2019 insurance cover amount therefore represents the insurance cover amount for the period 18
June 2019 to 30 June 2019.
(iii) Nathan Trushell resigned as a director of Australian Forestry Standard Limited on 30 October
2019: the 2020 membership fee amount therefore represents membership fees for the period 1
July 2019 to 30 October 2019.
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Impairment of receivables from KMPs and related parties
No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of
receivables from KMPs or related parties.
Loans with KMPs
There have been no loans entered into during or since the end of the reporting period
to or from KMPs.

Note 8.7 Ex-gratia expenses
Ex-gratia expenses are the voluntary payment of money or other non-monetary
benefit that is not made either to acquire goods, services or other benefits for
VicForests or to meet a legal liability, or to settle or resolve as possible legal liability of
or claim against VicForests.
No ex gratia expenses greater than or equal to $5,000 on an individual basis or in the
aggregate were paid during the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: $Nil).

Note 8.8 Change in accounting policies and disclosures
Note 8.8.1 Leases
This note explains the impact of the adoption of AASB 16 Leases on VicForests’
financial statements.
VicForests has applied AASB 16 with a date of initial application of 1 July 2019.
VicForests has elected to apply AASB 16 using the modified retrospective approach,
as per the transitional provisions of AASB 16 for all leases for which it is a lessee.
The cumulative effect of initial application is recognised in retained earnings as at 1
July 2019. Accordingly, the comparative information presented is not restated and is
reported under AASB 117 and related interpretations.
Previously, VicForests determined at contract inception whether an arrangement
is or contains a lease under AASB 117 and Interpretation 4 Determining whether
an arrangement contains a Lease. Under AASB 16, VicForests assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition of a lease as explained in Note
6.2.
On transition to AASB 16, VicForests has elected to apply the practical expedient
to grandfather the assessment of which transactions are leases. It applied AASB
16 only to contracts that were previously identified as leases. Contracts that were
not identified as leases under AASB 117 and Interpretation 4 were not reassessed
for whether there is a lease. Therefore, the definition of a lease under AASB 16 was
applied to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 July 2019.
Leases previously classified as operating leases under AASB 117
As a lessee, VicForests previously classified leases as operating leases based on
its assessment of whether the lease transferred significantly all of the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset to VicForests. Under AASB
16, VicForests recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases except
where exemption is availed in respect of short-term and low-value leases.
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On adoption of AASB 16, VicForests recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases
which had previously been classified as operating leases under the principles of AASB
117. These liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using VicForests’ incremental borrowing rate as of 1 July 2019.
On transition, right-of-use assets are measured at the amount equal to the lease
liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to that lease recognised in the balance sheet as at 30 June 2019.
VicForests has elected to apply the following practical expedients when applying
AASB 16 to leases previously classified as operating leases under AASB 117:
•

Applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar
characteristics (such as leases with a similar remaining lease term for a similar
class of underlying asset in a similar economic environment);

•

Relied on its assessment of whether leases are onerous applying AASB 137
immediately before the date of initial application, as an alternative to undertaking
an impairment review;

•

Applied the exemption not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for
leases with less than 12 months of lease term;

•

Excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use asset at the date of
initial application; and

•

Used hindsight when determining the lease term if the contract contains options
to extend or terminate the lease.

Impacts on financial statements
On transition to AASB 16, VicForests recognised $2,262,385 of right-of-use assets and
$2,262,385 of lease liabilities.
When measuring lease liabilities, VicForests discounted the lease payments using its
incremental borrowing rate at 1 July 2019. The weighted average rate applied is 3.53
per cent.
1 July 2019
Notes
Gross operating lease commitments disclosed
as at 30 June 2019

6.4

$’000
4,154

Less: GST recoverable from the ATO

(378)

Net operating lease commitments at 30 June 2019

3,776

Less: Operating costs embedded in motor vehicle lease
commitments not recognised in determining opening
right-of-use assets at 1 July 2019

(1,374)

Net operating lease commitments pre discount for
weighted average incremental borrowing rate

2,402

Discounted using VicForests weighted average
incremental borrowing rate

2,262

Lease liabilities recognised at 1 July 2019

2,262
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Note 8.8.2 Transition impact on financial statements
This note explains the impact of the adoption of AASB 16 Leases for the first time
from 1 July 2019.
The impact on the balance sheet is summarised in the table below:
Before
adoption Opening 1
July 2019
Balance sheet

After
adoption Impact of Opening 1
July 2019
AASB 16

$’000

$’000

$’000

Total financial assets

36,609

-

36,609

Total non-financial assets

62,544

2,262

64,806

Total assets

99,153

2,262

101,415

Payables

11,182

-

11,182

5,642

2,262

7,904

Other liabilities

16,568

-

16,568

Total liabilities

33,392

2,262

35,654

Contributed equity

45,000

-

45,000

2,645

-

2,645

Accumulated surplus

18,116

-

18,116

Total equity

65,761

-

65,761

Borrowings

Physical asset revaluation reserve
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Note 8.9 New accounting standards and interpretations applicable but
not yet effective
At the date of this financial report the following standards and interpretations which are applicable
to VicForests, have been issued but are not yet effective. VicForests has not adopted and does not
intend to adopt these standards early.
A discussion of their future requirements and their impact on VicForests is as follows:

Standard/
Interpretation (i) Summary

Applicable for annual Impact on
reporting periods
VicForests’ financial
beginning on
statements

AASB 2018-7
Amendments
to Australian
Accounting
Standards Definition of
Material

This Standard principally
amends AASB 101 Presentation
of Financial Statements and
AASB 108 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors. The
amendments refine and clarify
the definition of material in
AASB 101 and its application
by improving the wording and
aligning the definition across
AASB Standards and other
publications. The amendments
also include some supporting
requirements in AASB 101 in
the definition to give it more
prominence and clarify the
explanation accompanying the
definition of material.

1 Jan 2020

The assessment has
indicated that there
will be no significant
impact.

AASB 2020-1
Amendments
to Australian
Accounting
Standards Classification
of Liabilities as
Current or NonCurrent

This Standard amends AASB 101 1 Jan 2023
to clarify requirements for the
presentation of liabilities in the
statement of financial position
as current or non-current.
It initially applied to annual
reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022 with
early application permitted;
however, the AASB has recently
issued ED 301 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or NonCurrent - Deferral of Effective
Date with the intention to defer
the application by one year to
periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023.

VicForests is in the
process of analysing
the impacts of this
Standard. However,
it is not anticipated
to have a significant
impact.

In addition to the new standards and amendments above, the AASB has issued a list of other
amending standards that are not effective for the 2018-19 reporting period (as listed below). In
general, these amending standards include editorial and references changes that are expected to
have insignificant impacts on VicForests’ reporting.
•

AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - References to the Conceptual
Framework

•

AASB 2019-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure of the Effect of New
IFRS Standards Not Yet Issued in Australia
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Appendix 1:
Disclosure index
The annual report of VicForests is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislations
and pronouncements. This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of VicForests’
compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

Legislation Requirement

Page
reference

Standing Directions (SDs) and Financial Reporting Directions (FRDs)
Report of operations
Charter and purpose
FRD 22H

Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers

5, 46

FRD 22H

Purpose, functions, powers and duties

5

FRD 8D

VicForests’ objectives, indicators and outputs

5

FRD 22H

Key initiatives and projects

15, 11-12,
25-26

FRD 22H

Nature and range of services provided

5, 48

Management and structure
FRD 22H

Organisational structure

9

Financial and other information
FRD 8D

Performance against output performance measures

3, 4, 21

FRD 10A

Disclosure index

113-114

FRD 12B

Disclosure of major contracts

34

FRD 15E

Executive officer disclosures

30, 102

FRD 22H

Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982

34

FRD 22H

Application and operation of the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012

35

FRD 22H

Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building Act
1993

34

FRD 22H

Details of consultancies over $10,000

33

FRD 22H

Details of consultancies under $10,000

33

FRD 22H

Disclosure of government advertising expenditure

32

FRD 22H

Disclosure of ICT expenditure

33

FRD 22H

Employment and conduct principles

28

FRD 22H

Major changes or factors affecting performance

3, 4, 21, 24

FRD 22H

Occupational health and safety policy

27

FRD 22H

Significant changes in financial position during the year

3, 4, 21

113

114
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Legislation Requirement

Page
reference

Standing Directions (SDs) and Financial Reporting Directions (FRDs)
FRD 22H

Statement of availability of other information

35

FRD 22H

Statement on Competitive Neutrality Policy

35

FRD 22H

Subsequent events

100

FRD 22H

Summary of the financial results for the year

21

FRD 25D

Local Jobs First

32

FRD 29C

Workforce data disclosures

27

SD 5.2

Specific requirements under Standing Direction 5.2

21

Compliance attestation and declaration
SD 5.4.1

Attestation for compliance with Ministerial Standing Direction

37

SD 5.2.3

Declaration in report of operations

37

Financial statements
Declaration
SD 5.2.2

Declaration in financial statements

39

Other requirements under Standing Directions 5.2
SD 5.2.1(a)

Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other
authoritative pronouncements

46

SD 5.2.1(a)

Compliance with Standing Directions

46

SD 5.2.1(b)

Compliance with Model Financial Report

36

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements
FRD 11A

Disclosure of Ex-Gratia Expenses

109

FRD 21C

103
Disclosures of Responsible Persons, Executive Officers and other
Personnel (Contractors with Significant Management Responsibilities)
in the Financial Report

FRD 103H

Non-Financial Physical Assets

58, 81, 96

FRD 110A

Cash Flow Statements

45

FRD 112D

Defined Benefit Superannuation Obligations

53

FRD 114C

Financial Instruments

82

Legislation requiring a specific disclosure statement
Building Act 1993

34

Financial Management Act 1994

39

Freedom of Information Act 1982

34

Local Jobs Act 2003

32

Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012

35
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Other legislation VicForests is subject to includes:
Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006
Accident Compensation Act 1985
Australian Consumer Law and Fair Trading Act 2012
Borrowing and Investment Powers Act 1987
Catchment and Land Protection Act 1994
Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (Cth)
Conservation, Forests and Lands Act 1987
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)
Environment, Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 (Cth)
Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth)
Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act 1988
Forests Act 1958
Forests (Wood Pulp Agreement) Act 1996
Health Records Act 2001
Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 (Cth)
Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (Cth)
Independent Broad-Based Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2011
Long Service Leave Act 2018
Multicultural Victoria Act 2004
Native Title Act 1993 (Cth)
Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004
Owner Drivers and Forestry Contractors Act 2005
Parliamentary Budget Officer Act 2017
Payroll Tax Act 2007
Penalty Interest Rate Act 1983
Personal Property Securities Act 2009 (Cth)
Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014
Project Development and Construction Management Act 1994
Public Administration Act 2004
Public Records Act 1973
Road Management Act 2004
State Owned Enterprises Act 1992
Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992 (Cth)
Sustainable Forests (Timber) Act 2004
Traditional Owner Settlement Act 2010
Workplace Injury Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 2013
Gender Equality Act 2020
The Workplace Safety Legislation Amendment
(Workplace Manslaughter and Other Matters) Act 2019
Wage Theft Act 2020

115

116
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Table of Acronyms
Acronym

Definition

Acronym

Definition

AAS

Australian Accounting Standards

IBAC

AASB

Australian Accounting Standards
Board

Independent Broad-Based AntiCorruption Commission

ICT

Information and Communication
Technology

KMP

Key Management Personnel

LBPAG

Leadbeater’s Possum Advisory
Group

LIDAR

Light Detection and Ranging

LIDP

Local Industry Development Plan

LSL

Long Service Leave

LTI

Lost Time Injury

MPSG

Major Project Skills Guarantee

NCP

National Competition Policy

NRV

Net Realisable Value

NTER

National Tax Equivalent Regime

OCR

Office of the Conservation
Regulator

OH&S

Occupational Health and Safety

OVIC

Office of the Victorian
Information Commissioner

RAP

Weighted Average Cost of Capital

AFS

Australian Forestry Standard

AO

Allocation Order

ATO

Australian Taxation Office

BAU

Business As Usual

CenITex

Centre for IT Excellence

DEDJTR

Department of Economic
Development, Jobs, Transport and
Resources

DELWP

Department of Environment,
Land, Water and Planning

DJPR

Department of Jobs, Precincts
and Regions

DRC

Depreciated Replacement Cost

DTF

Department of Treasury and
Finance

EBA

Enterprise Bargaining Agreement

ECL

Expected Credit Loss

EDM

Electronic Direct Mail
Freedom of Information

Registered Aboriginal Party,
Reconciliation Action Plan

FAL

Financial Accommodation Levy

FBT

Fringe Benefits Tax

RFA

Regional Forest Agreement

FFG

Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act
1988

RoU

Right-of-Use

SD

Standing Direction

FMA

Financial Management Act 1994,
Forest Management Areas

SRO

State Revenue Office

FoI

Freedom of Information

TCV

Treasury Corporation of Victoria

FoLP

Friends of Leadbeater’s Possums
Inc

THN

Timber Haulage Network

TRP

Timber Release Plan

FRD

Financial Reporting Direction

VAGO

Victorian Auditor-General’s Office

FRN

Forest Road Network

VCAT

FSC

Forest Stewardship Council

Victorian Civil and Administrative
Tribunal

FTE

Full-time Equivalent

VFP

Victorian Forestry Plan

FVLCTS

Fair value less costs to sell

VIPP

Victorian Industry Participation
Policy

GMZ

General Management Zone

VMIA

GST

Goods and Services Tax

Victorian Managed Insurance
Authority

HCV

High Conservation Value

WACC

Weighted Average Cost of Capital
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